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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited (the “Company”),
together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”), | present herewith
to the shareholders of the Group the annual report and
audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023.

RESULTS OF THE YEAR

In recent years, the media business of the Group has been
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic which has spread all over
the world in the year of 2019 and the strikes of the Writers Guild
of America and Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA in 2023. Delays in
distribution, settlement as well as receipt of income of TV drama
and film investments of the Company significantly and negatively
affected the operating results regarding these investments,
which has been reducing the amount of revenue and gross profit
recognized for a few years. The slow-down of business activities
and postponement of some of the fim and TV drama projects
developed by the Group in prior years have impacted on the
financial results of the Group.

Revenue and gross profit from its media and culture business
for the year of 2023 was approximately HK$80.3 million and
HK$15.1 million respectively (2022: revenue of approximately
HK$60.2 million and gross profit of approximately HK$4.0
million).

The Group reported a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$45.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: approximately HK$135.9 million).

Basic loss per share for the year amounted to approximately
5.55 HK$ cents (2022: approximately 16.5 HK$ cents). Net
deficit of the Group were approximately HK$378.3 million (2022:
approximately HK$330.5 million).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Chairman’s Statement
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FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

Up to the date of this report, the COVID-19 epidemic seems
to be almost over and the related restrictions upon travelling
and social activities are for most of the part lifted. It can be
reasonably foreseen that the business activities of the media and
culture business of the Group would resume to a normal level in
the long term.

However, the strikes of the Writers Guild of America and
Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA in 2023 has adversely affected the
development, production and distribution of feature films and TV
and streaming TV programming in the USA.

Furthermore, as it takes time for the entire business cycle of the
Group to be get back on track, it is probable that these negative
impacts may continue to be reflected in the financial results of
Group in the coming year(s).

The Company plans to utilize its existing Hollywood intellectual
property resources to develop metaverse businesses, advance
its digital product platform construction, and establish
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China to expand cross
border e-commerce operations.

On 8 May 2023, Star Media Digital Technology Group
Limited (“Star Media”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a reseller service agreement
(the “Reseller Service Agreement”) with Alibaba Cloud
(Singapore) Private Limited (“Alibaba Cloud”), being a global
leader in cloud computing and artificial intelligence, pursuant to
which Star Media as a partner, is entitled to distribute various
products supplied by Alibaba Cloud, including but not limited to
computing, container, storage, networking and content delivery
network (CDN), security, middleware, and database.

The Directors are of the view that the entering of the Reseller
Service Agreement enables the Group to commence distribution
business of reliable and secure cloud computing and data
processing. As such, the Directors believe that the Reseller
Service Agreement could, on one hand, complement the
business of the Group and, on the other hand, expand the
client base of the Group. Accordingly, it will broaden the Group’s
revenue base in the future and is expected to increase
investment returns to the Shareholders.
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On 4 January 2024, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation framework agreement (the “Strategic Cooperation
Framework Agreement”) with Greenland Digital Technology
Co., Ltd (“Greenland Digital”), being a global leader in
providing strategic digital advices and apply digital technology to
improve business operation, pursuant to which the Company as
a partner, is entitled to improve the development on metaverse
business, advance its digital product platform construction and
expand crossborder e-commerce operations.

The Directors are of the view that the entering of the Strategic
Cooperation Framework Agreement enables the Group and
Greenland Digital to use the resources of both parties to operate
and be more involved in digital platform in metaverse, digital
product and virtual reality technology. As such, the Directors
believe that the Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement
could, on one hand, complement the business of the Group
and, on the other hand, expand the client base of the Group.
Accordingly, it will broaden the Group’s revenue base in the
future and is expected to increase investment returns to the
Shareholders.

With an aim to turnaround from the making of loss and
safeguard a shareholder’s return, the Group is in the process
of reviewing the future prospect and development of its other
business segments, and at the same time exploring new
business opportunities and making more efforts to explore
market opportunities in Mainland China.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to the management and all the employees of the Group
for their dedication. | would also like to thank our shareholders,
suppliers, bankers and customers for their continuous support.

Mr. Tang Liang
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

In recent years, the media business of the Group has been
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic which has spread all over
the world in the year of 2019 and the strikes of the Writers Guild
of America and Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA in 2023. Delays in
distribution, settlement as well as receipt of income of TV drama
and film investments of the Company significantly and negatively
affected the operating results regarding these investments,
which has been reducing the amount of revenue and gross profit
recognized for a few years. The slow-down of business activities
and postponement of some of the film and TV drama projects
developed by the Group in prior years have impacted on the
financial results of the Group.

Revenue and gross profit from its media and culture business
for the year of 2023 was approximately HK$80.3 million and
HK$15.1 million respectively (2022: revenue of approximately
HK$60.2 million and gross profit of approximately HK$4.0
million).

The Group reported a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$45.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: approximately HK$135.9 million).

Media and Culture

The Group’s movies and TV drama series products and
investments, projects incubated by film directors and related
prepayments amounted to approximately HK$291.2 million as at
31 December 2023, and the followings are some highlights:

Media investments and products

Crazy Rich Asians

The movie was invested and released by Warner Bros. Pictures,
co-invested by the Group and directed by director Jon M. Chu
(who has entered into an agreement with the Group), and was
released in August 2018. The film was adapted from a best-
selling novel written by Kevin Kwan under the same title, which
has a solid reader base. The movie stars Constance Wu, Henry
Golding, Michelle Yeoh, and etc. The highly anticipated movie is
the first major film that is not a period piece in Hollywood in two
and a half decades to feature an all ethnically Asian cast. As the
first adapted work of the novel series, there is also expectation
for it to develop into commercially successful film series where
the stories of the two sequels mainly take place in China. To
date, according to Box Office Mojo, its worldwide gross is
US$238,532,921.
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Greta

The thriller/crime movie is directed by Neil Jordan who won
the Academy Award for Best Original Screenplay and starring
French actress Isabelle Huppert who has been nominated for
the Academy Award for Best Actress. The international sales of
the movie are undertaken by veteran sales agency Sierra/Affinity.
To date, international sales are anticipated to be US$9.5 million.
The movie premiered at the Toronto International Film Festival in
September 2018 and was released in March 2019.

Midway

The Group arranged the investment in the epic drama movie,
directed by the well-known director Roland Emmerich (who
has entered into an agreement with the Group), produced by
Mark Gordon and starring Woody Harrelson, Mandy Moore
and Luke Evans. It started principal photography in 2018 and
was released on 8 November 2019. The movie is also the first
World War Il film of Roland Emmerich. It is adapted from the true
stories of the Battle of Midway and tells rarely known stories of
war heroes. The total budget is approximately US$100 million. In
terms of distribution, Summit Entertainment, LLC is responsible
for the U.S., Bona Film Group is responsible for the Greater
China area and Accelerate Global Content, LLC is responsible
for overseas sales. The Deadline Magazine has provided
extensive coverage in this regard and the commentary described
the movie as “one of the biggest movies on-sale at Cannes”.
During the pre-sales period, excluding the Greater China area,
overseas pre-sales has exceeded US$30 million.

The movie topped the North American box office only in its
opening week. According to Box Office Mojo, its worldwide
gross amounted to US$126,696,475. In addition, the movie also
enjoyed positive buzz among audiences since releasing, with
being scored by up to 92% of audiences (Audience Score) on
Rotten Tomatoes, a professional film critics website.

Scary Stories to Tell in the Dark

The movie is distributed in US by Lionsgate, co-financed
by CBS Films, eOne, the Group and Rolling Hills and was
released in August 2019. The film is adapted from a bestselling
series of short horror stories, written by Alvin Schwartz under
the same title. It is directed by André @vredal, produced by
Academy Award Winner Guillermo del Toro, written by Dan
Hageman, Kevin Hageman, and Guillermo del Toro. Starring Zoe
Margaret Colletti, Michael Garza, Gabriel Rush, etc., the movie’s
international distributor is Entertainment One and Sierra/Affinity
is the foreign sales agency of the picture. Produced for US$25
million, the movie earned US$21 million at the domestic box
office in its opening weekend. To date, according to Box Office
Mojo, its worldwide gross is US$104,545,505.
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Malignant

Malignant is a 2021 American horror film directed by James Wan
from a screenplay by Akela Cooper, based on a story by Wan,
Ingrid Bisu, and Cooper. The film stars Annabelle Wallis as a
woman who begins to have visions of people being murdered,
only to realize the events are happening in real life. Maddie
Hasson, George Young, Michole Briana White, and Jacqueline
McKenzie also star. Malignant was theatrically released in the
United States on September 10, 2021, by Warner Bros. Pictures
simultaneously streamed on HBO Max for one month. It is
streaming on YouTube, Apple TV, Google Play Movies & TV,
Vudu, Amazon Prime Video, YouTube TV and Hulu now.

Posted to his Twitter handle, Stephen King, the legendary
horror author praises Wan’s Malignant. In one short sentence,
King sums up his feelings, saying, “/ watched MALIGNANT on
HBO and thought it was brilliant.” King’s tweet already has over
2,461 retweets and 33,000 likes. While critics and fans seem
mixed over Wan’s new horror movie, King sincerely feels the film
is brilliant. Given King's expertise in all things horror, receiving
praise from the author must feel like a high honor. For many fans
who have yet to see Malignant, King’s high praise is sure to peak
their interest.

Malignant was released to high reviews and good word of
mouth. David Stratton from The Australian mentioned that “Wan
cheerfully draws on the extreme work of horror film aficionados
such as David Cronenberg and Dario Argento as he piles on the
bloody violence.” Becca James from Chicago Reader mentioned
that “Malignant is the type of movie that requires viewers to
strap in and shut up from the onset.” A.A. Dowd from AV Club
mentioned that “There’s no way to watch this deranged follow-
up and not conclude that Wan’s back where he belongs.” Alison
Shoemaker from Fox 10 Phoenix mentioned that “Wan’s final
twist is so maniacal and so (and this is a compliment) deeply
and thoroughly stupid that it more than makes up for the minor
missteps along the way.” Perri Nemiroff from YouTube mentioned
that “James Wan swings for the fences and it pays off big time.
Malignant is a bonkers and bloody delight that showcases a
multitude of different skills and styles Wan’s honed through his
horror fims over the years.” The IMDb rating of Malignant is
6.3/10. And, the Tomatometer of Malignant reaches 76%.
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Malignant won the ReFrame Stamp for Best Feature at ReFrame
2022. It was also nominated for 1) BloodGuts UK Horror Awards
at BloodGuts UK Horror Awards 2022 2) Best CCA Super
Awards at Critics Choice Super Awards 2022 3) Dorian Award
at GALECA: The Society of LGBTQ Entertainment Critics 2022
4) HFCS Award at Hawaii Film Critics Society 2022 5) HCA
Award at Hollywood Critics Association 2022 6) HCA Awards
At Hollywood Critics Association 2021 7) INOCA at International
Online Cinema Awards (INOCA) 2022 8)MCFCA Award at the
Music City Film Critics’ Association Awards 2022 9) PCC Award
at the Phoenix Critics Circle 2021 10) PCA Award at the Portland
Critics Association Awards 2021.

Marshall

The movie was obtained by the Group through acquisition.
It is internationally distributed by Sony Pictures Worldwide
Acquisitions Inc., and distributed by Open Road Films, LLC
in North America. The movie is produced by Paula Wagner,
an experienced Hollywood producer, and starring Chadwick
Boseman, the leading actor of “Black Panther”, and Sterling
K. Brown, an Emmy Award winner and the leading actor of
“This Is Us”. The movie was nominated for Oscar Best Original
Song (theme song: Stand Up For Something) and received Top
Ten Films of African American Film Critics Association Awards,
Audience Choice Award of Chicago International Film Festival,
Annual Song Award of Hollywood Film Awards, Best Original
Song Award of Annual Satellite Awards as well as 18 other
internationally renowned awards nominations.

Umma

“‘Umma” is a fim that stands out for its fusion of horror with
a poetic and lyrical representation of Asian culture. The film
was distributed by Sony Pictures on March 15, 2022. It was
produced by the renowned horror maestro Sam Raimi, who is
known for his work on the “Spider-Man” series and “The Evil
Dead” series. The director and writer of the film, Iris K. Shim,
had previously been acclaimed for her documentary “The House
of Suh,” which won six awards. The lead role in “Umma” was
played by the talented Sandra Oh, who was celebrated as
the first Asian actress to win a Golden Globe in 40 years. Her
collaboration with Sam Raimi and Iris K. Shim brought a fresh
and innovative perspective to Hollywood horror. It garnered
interest from major studios and was praised for its unique
blend of horror with an intimate portrayal of East Asian culture.
With the backing of Sony Pictures, “Umma” made a significant
impact in the film industry upon its release in 2022 and won the
ReFrame Stamp award.
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My Robot Boyfriend

My Robot Boyfriend, an urban love sci-fi comedy directed by
Lai Chun Tsang and starring Chao Jiang and Xiaotong Mao,
which has been firstly broadcasted on Zhejiang Satellite TV on
21 October 2019 with concurrently releasing on Tencent Video
and Mango TV.

PROJECTS INCUBATING BY FILM
DIRECTORS

With the commitment in further diversifying and enhancing
the entertainment business of the Group so as to broaden the
income sources, the Group has engaged 8 film directors.

James Wan, Roland Emmerich, Jon M. Chu, Robert Zemeckis,
Alan Taylor, Jonathan Liebesman, F. Gary Gray, Sylvester
Stallone, Nattawut Poonpiriya and Sam Raimi in relation to the
development and production of motion picture projects, which
enable the Group to tap into the business of film production
and distribution. Reference may be made to the Company’s
announcement dated 20 March 2020 for details of the profile
of some of the projects under development. With respect
to those projects that have not been completed prior to the
terminations or expirations of the development agreements,
the Company and those directors will continue to collaborate on
the development of those projects.

Under the agreements, the Group has developed 44 feature
projects, 38 among which have developed completed scripts.

Here are the projects developed under Development/Production
Financing Agreements:

James Wan (9) Malignant, Sentinel,

(EREBABR)

(BB ABER) BAGEEHE 28 E8N
EHTEMNETEBRAOSZH BN _BE—hE+
BZ+—HEMNIEREE TEEAGE - R
TVREIZ#EH o

EE! E’

H=BEEE

RMBNMNE-—TZTIEREAREBBREET U
RIRWARR ~EECEFUBEFEE

AEEERHEEREEFELEERBRTC
(James Wan)~ & o X 212 37 (Roland Emmerich)
KIER(Jon M. Chu)~ #1845 ¢ 2 K E Hi(Robert
Zemeckis) ~ X f o F#H(Alan Taylor)  S4#7x « 128
HrZ(Jonathan Liebesman) F.INE e *%EE(F. Gary
Gray)~ FAF 4 A7 45 o 52 F=B2(Sylvester Stallone) ~ 4K
BE e« & 4813 (Nattawut Poonpiriya)& L1 « &
,JR(Sam Raimi)» UL AEBREBRXRIEREITE
BB ERPEENHMRFE F2H4AA
BHA_E _EF="RA_+HZAE MEEH
EpE R EE R E AN EEMS AAF
HZEE R EESIFREZEEB

RIEZSHE ~2EEERSEM4ERXARER HP
38fEEE Be B4 o

RIERE BFRERERENERNT !

Alien Santa, Golden, Roswell, The Magnificent Theater of

Enchanted Puppet, The Call of Cthulhu, Mass Extinction, Border Patrol

EF1Z(9)

(FenRUFED ~ Sentinel ~ Alien Santa ~ Golden ~ {ZBEF4E 7)) ~ GERE

35 2R BE XA AB)

(RER B RYMT ) ~ (RBAB ) ~ (BIRIKIE)

Jon M. Chu (6)
Cul-De-Sac, Project Human
JE1E(0)

78 ) ~ Project Human

Sam Raimi (7)

Here and Now and Then~ (R

Here and Now and Then, The Godfather, Sophia of Silicon Valley, Human Error,

)~ Sophia of Silicon Valley ~ Human Error ~ (/G885

The Procession, Untitled Rob Savage Project, Bedtime Story, Umma, Sword of the

Dead, Smooth Stones and Empty Bones, Little Snake

U-lgl L 'EE'/\( )

The Procession » Untitled Rob Savage Project ~ Bedtime Story ~ {&#8 ) ~ Sword of the

Dead ~ Smooth Stones and Empty Bones  Little Snake

Nattawut Poonpiriya (2)
MIBE e L ARER(2)

The Innkeeper, Homelands
The Innkeeper ~ Homelands

Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Management Discussion and Analysis

Robert Zemeckis (2)
BT « ERTHIQ)

Alan Taylor (2)
Xfm o Z=E(2)

Gold Mountain, Stone Junction
Gold Mountain ~ Stone Junction

Roland Emmerich (2) Dreamland, Emergence

HEE e UEEH(Q) B2y~ CGED
Jonathan Liebesman (1) Scorpion
SR e BEEE(1) 7>

Sylvester Stallone (10)

BB RmR O

The Prisoner in His Palace, Empress Wu
The Prisoner in His Palace ~ {Z 28X )

Tier 1, Scavenger Hunt, Bellhop, Arcane, Dark Waters, Hunter, The Line that Held Us,

Perfect Horse, Ghost, Safecracker

PRRRAE TS o SEZRBE(10)

Tier 1~ Scavenger Hunt ~ Bellnop ~ {27 B B8 © & 35 2 B ) ~ Dark Waters » Hunter ~ The

Line that Held Us ~ Perfect Horse ~ Ghost ~ Safecracker

F Gary Gray (3)
FANEE « #5825 (3)

Meanwhile, the Group has jointly developed 12 projects with
A-list talents through collaboration, including: The Burden, GMO,
Hunting Season, The Troop, The Devil Came to Saint Louis, The
Monkey, The Fortunate Sons, The Pigeon, In the Shadow of the
Mountain, Down Range, and RIP.

For these projects, the Group will take a diversified project
structuring approach, including Films suitable for streaming
platforms will be redirected towards them, which allows for
relatively quick cost recovery, name recognition, increased
exposure, and visibility through the widespread coverage
of streaming platforms. Additionally, we will explore various
channels for financing, such as international sales, tax
refunds, minimum guarantees in North America, and derivative
applications in the metaverse (NFT/digital collectible releases,
metaverse construction, blockchain games), converting a portion
of the budget allocated for visual effects into investments. By
retaining the copyright, we aim to establish a new ecosystem.

The Group will be able to generate revenue from these projects
and IPs through the following ways: recouping development
costs plus a profit; getting producers fees and backend,
investment payback, online distribution, theatrical releases, IP
licensing, merchandising, web3 and metaverse monetization.

Saints Row, Untitled Golf Action Comedy, Echo
(R HER%E ) ~ Untitled Golf Action Comedy * Echo

AR AEECBEESFR—GEEXRRNIEI2E
185 > 81 The Burden GMO ~Hunting Season»
The Troop*The Devil Came to Saint Louis~The
Monkey ~ The Fortunate Sons»The Pigeon~In the
Shadow of the Mountain ~ Down Range&RIP ©
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Media and culture operating results

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue
generated from media and culture business amounted to
approximately HK$80.3 million (2022: approximately HK$60.2
million), with a gross profit of approximately HK$15.1 million
(2022: approximately HK$4.0 million).

In recent years, the media business of the Group has been
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic which has spread all over
the world in the year of 2019 and the strikes of the Writers Guild
of America and Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA in 2023. Business
activities slowed down and some of the film and TV drama
projects being developed by the Group have been postponed.
Delays in distribution, settlement as well as receipt of income of
TV drama and film investments of the Company significantly and
negatively affected the future cash flow projections regarding
these investments, which in turn reduced the amount of revenue
recognized during recent years.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group reported a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$45.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: approximately HK$135.9 million).

The Board considers that while the Group recorded an increase
in gross profit and a reduction in net loss in the year of 2023
compared to the year of 2022, the slow-down of business
activities and postponement of some of the film and TV drama
projects being developed by the Group in recent years due to
the impact of COVID-19 continued to affect the financial results
of the Group during the year.

Basic loss per share for the year amounted to approximately
5.55 HK$ cents (2022: approximately 16.5 HK$ cents). Net
deficit of the Group were approximately HK$378.3 million (2022:
approximately HK$330.5 million).

FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

Up to the date of this report, the COVID-19 epidemic seems
to be almost over and the related restrictions upon travelling
and social activities are for most of the part lifted. It can be
reasonably foreseen that the business activities of the media and
culture business of the Group would resume to a normal level in
the long term.
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However, the strikes of the Writers Guild of America and
Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA in 2023 has adversely affected the
development, production and distribution of feature films and TV
and streaming TV programming in the USA.

Furthermore, as it takes time for the entire business cycle of the
Group to be get back on track, it is probable that these negative
impacts may continue to be reflected in the financial results of
Group in the coming year(s).

The Company plans to utilize its existing Hollywood intellectual
property resources to develop metaverse businesses, advance
its digital product platform construction, and establish
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China to expand cross
border e-commerce operations.

On 8 May 2023, Star Media Digital Technology Group
Limited (“Star Media”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a reseller service agreement
(the “Reseller Service Agreement”) with Alibaba Cloud
(Singapore) Private Limited (“Alibaba Cloud”), being a global
leader in cloud computing and artificial intelligence, pursuant to
which Star Media as a partner, is entitled to distribute various
products supplied by Alibaba Cloud, including but not limited to
computing, container, storage, networking and content delivery
network (CDN), security, middleware, and database.

The Directors are of the view that the entering of the Reseller
Service Agreement enables the Group to commence distribution
business of reliable and secure cloud computing and data
processing. As such, the Directors believe that the Reseller
Service Agreement could, on one hand, complement the
business of the Group and, on the other hand, expand the
client base of the Group. Accordingly, it will broaden the
Group’s revenue base in the future and is expected to increase
investment returns to the Shareholders.

On 4 January 2024, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation framework agreement (the “Strategic Cooperation
Framework Agreement”) with Greenland Digital Technology
Co., Ltd (“Greenland Digital”), being a global leader in
providing strategic digital advices and apply digital technology to
improve business operation, pursuant to which the Company as
a partner, is entitled to improve the development on metaverse
business, advance its digital product platform construction
and expand crossborder e-commerce operations and these
businesses are business expected to commence in or around
2024.
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The Directors are of the view that the entering of the Strategic
Cooperation Framework Agreement enables the Group and
Greenland Digital to use the resources of both parties to operate
and be more involved in digital platform in metaverse, digital
product and virtual reality technology. As such, the Directors
believe that the Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement
could, on one hand, complement the business of the Group
and, on the other hand, expand the client base of the Group.
Accordingly, it will broaden the Group’s revenue base in the
future and is expected to increase investment returns to the
Shareholders.

With an aim to turnaround from the making of loss and
safeguard a shareholder’s return, the Group is in the process
of reviewing the future prospect and development of its other
business segments, and at the same time exploring new
business opportunities and making more efforts to explore
market opportunities in Mainland China.

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

There were no other significant investments held during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND
DISPOSAL

There is no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures conducted by the Group during the
year that should be notified to the shareholders of the Company.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
NIL).

The Board is not aware of any shareholders who have waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s net deficit was
approximately HK$378.3 million (2022: approximately HK$330.5
million).
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LOSS ALLOWANCES OF TRADE
RECEIVABLES

The Company had provided for loss allowances on trade
receivables of approximately HK$0.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. Details of the impairment analysis is set out
in note 16 to these consolidated financial statements.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operation by internally
generated cash flow, other borrowings and film investment
loans, amount due to a holding company, and through issuance
of promissory notes and convertible bonds.

The major shareholders of the Company have been able to
provide financial resources (in form of loan advance, equity
finance etc.) to support the Group’s operations. For example,
the Group obtained an advance of HK$472,229,000 (equivalent
to RMB415,000,000) (“Advance”) from the then controlling
shareholder (IR 2B XLEEBR AR in the year of
2019. The Group has fully repaid the Advance and the then
controlling shareholder also confirmed the full repayment of the
Advance during the year of 2020. The Company believes that
its shareholders will continue to provide financial support to the
Group where necessary and in due course.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank balances and
cash amounted to approximately HK$52.0 million (2022:
approximately HK$79.4 million).

As at 31 December 2023, current ratio was approximately
0.20 (2022: approximately 0.28) based on current assets of
approximately HK$172.9 million (2022: approximately HK$255.3
million) and current liabilities of approximately HK$854.3 million
(2022: approximately HK$897.1 million).

Further details regarding the liquidity of the Group are set out
in “going concern assumption” of note 2 of the consolidated
financial statements.

Referring to the sections of “Disclaimer of Opinion”, “Basis
for disclaimer of opinion” and “The Board’s response to the
Auditor’s Opinion”, the Company will continue to strive to
improve its operating results and financial position and provide
further information and communicate with the Company’s
auditors from time to time for their assessment of the going
concern assumption for subsequent financial reporting periods.
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While the management would strive to recover the trade
receivables of gross amount of HK$111.5 million as at 31
December 2023 to further improve its financial position, and
procure the possible loan or equity finance where necessary
and in due course, the Company will continue to allocate more
resources to media and culture segment (e.g. film and TV series
investment and production) which are the Group’s major growth
drivers.

LITIGATIONS AND CLAIMS

On 22 September 2022, a company incorporated in the PRC
has filed a writ of summons for a legal proceedings against
a subsidiary of the Group (the “Subsidiary”) in relation to,
inter alia, a claim for a repayment of investment principal of
US$804,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$6,279,000)
and the corresponding interests in respect of a co-investment
agreement for a movie titled “Midway” (the “Co-Investment
Agreement’).

On 10 January 2024, the Subsidiary received a final court
judgement mandating payment of investment principal
of US$804,000 (equivalent to HK$6,279,000), along with
corresponding interests of US$239,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,867,000). Management considered that the relevant
balances (including the corresponding interests thereof)
recognised by the Group under the Co-Investment Agreement
as at 31 December 2023 is sufficient and therefore the
subsequent final court judgement will not have a material impact
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

On 3 March 2023, a company incorporated in the PRC has filed
a Notice of Arbitration with Hong Kong International Arbitration
Centre to commence an arbitral proceedings against the
Subsidiary and the Company in relation to, inter alia, a claim for
a repayment of investment principal of US$3,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$23,495,000) in respect of an alleged
investment agreement (the “Investment Agreement”) for a
movie titled “Malignant”. The Tribunal has not been heard at the
date of these consolidated financial statements. Management
considered that the Group’s exposures from the claim is
insignificant considering a separate agreement entered into
between the Group, the claimant and an independent third party
on 23 May 2019 to transfer this investment to the independent
third party.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN
EXCHANGE RATES AND TREASURY
POLICIES

Most of the Group’s assets, liabilities and business transactions
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and U.S.
dollars. The Group was not exposed to material foreign
exchange risk and has not employed any financial instruments
for hedging purposes. The management constantly monitors the
economic situation and the Group’s foreign exchange risk profile
and will consider appropriate hedging measures in the future
should the need arise.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group employed 13 (2022: 20) employees as at
31 December 2023. The Group’s remuneration policies are
primarily based on prevailing market salary levels and the
performance of the respective companies and individuals
concerned. Employees may also be invited to participate in
the share option scheme of the Group. For details of the Share
Option Scheme, please refer to the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” and note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group has entered
into agreements with lenders of other borrowings of the Group,
among others, to extend the repayment date of the other
borrowings and to mitigate the liquidity issues of the Group.
Further details are set out in “going concern assumption” of note
2 of the consolidated financial information.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI

On 13 December 2023 (after trading hours), the Company
entered into a placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement’)
with Roofer Securities Limited, a licensed corporation to carry
on business in Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 4 (advising
on securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Placing Agent”), pursuant to which
the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed, as agent of the
Company, to procure on a best effort basis currently expected to
be not less than six placees who and whose ultimate beneficial
owners shall be independent third parties to subscribe for up to
162,000,000 placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.165
per Placing Share (the “Placing”). All the conditions precedent
under the Placing Agreement have been fulfilled and completion
of the Placing took place on 8 January 2024. For details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 14
December 2023 and 8 January 2024.

On 4 January 2024, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation framework agreement with Greenland Digital
Technology Co., Ltd. Pursuant to which the Company is entitled
to improve the development on metaverse business, advance
its digital product platform construction and expand crossborder
e-commence operations and these businesses are business
expected to commence in or around 2024.

Other than disclosed elsewhere in this report, there is no major

event after the reporting period that should be notified to the
shareholders of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance with an aim to protect the
interest of shareholders.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the “Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
During the year ended 31 December 2023 the Company
complied with all applicable provisions of the Code for their
respective applicable periods.

Code Provision C.1.6 and F.2.2

Under code provision C.1.6, independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of
the views of the shareholders. Also under code provision F.2.2,
the chairman of the Board should also invite the chairmen of
the audit, remuneration, nomination and any other committees
(as appropriate) to attend. In their absence, the chairman
should invite another member of the committee or their duly
appointed delegate, to attend the annual general meeting. Due
to other pre-arranged commitments, independent non-executive
directors were unable to attend the Company’s annual general
meeting held on 15 September 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance
function. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Board (i) developed and reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, and made recommendations
to the Board; (ii) reviewed and monitored the training and
continuous professional development of the Directors and
senior management; (iii) reviewed and monitored the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; and (iv) reviewed and monitored the compliance of
the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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Corporate Governance Report

EEERRS

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s business strategic decisions
and performances.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised six Executive
Directors, Mr. Tang Liang (Co-Chairman), Mr. Jing Xufeng
(Co-Chairman), Mr. Luo Lei (Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Sang
Kanggiao, Ms. Wu Xiaoli and Mr. Hu Fanghui; and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Wu Hongliang, Mr. Niu
Zhongjie, and Mr. Xu Zhihao.

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are
persons with academic and professional qualifications in the
fields of accounting and/or appropriate expertise. They provide
strong support towards the effective discharge of the duties and
responsibilities of the Board. Each Independent Non-executive
Director gives an annual confirmation of his independence to
the Company and the Company considers these directors to be
independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Details of Directors’ attendance records during the year ended
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31 December 2023 are set out below: HE SRR ZEFEHRIWT ¢
Meetings Attended/Held
=z VR Th-E 5
Anti-money Investment
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration Executive Laundering Steering
Directors Bz AGM Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee
REBEEAE E58 EHZAE REEEE HHEAE HTERE RARHEAE RRELZER
Executive Directors HES
Mr. Tang Liang ERtE 1 99 33 33 00
Mr. Jing Xufeng (redesignated on 2 March 2023 RMBE%E R-B-=F=AZASM 0/ 99 1 00 00 00
Mr. Chau Chit (retred on 15 September 2023) BERERZSZ=ENBTREERA 0/ m 0 00
M Luo Lei BERL 01 99 00 00
Mr. Zhou Jingbo (resigned on 2 March 2023) BEREE (R-F-ZEZRZARA 000 1! 00 000 000
Mr. Sang Kangajao 2EERE 1 99 00
Ms. Wu Xiaol B e 1 99 00
Mr. Hu Fanghui (appointed on 15 September 2029) HABRE(RZBZ=FAATEE 0 20
EZf)
Independent Non-executive Directors BikarEs
Mr. Wong Wal Kwan (resigned on 20 September 2023) IRERE (RIEZ=FARZTERD 0 m 44 0 22 000 00
Mr. Michael Ngai Ming Tak (resigned on HEERE (WZBZ=FARZTHED 01 mn 44 2% 20 00
20 September 2023)
Mr. Wu Hongliang (appointed on 2 March 2023) SERAE (WZBZ=5=A_REZM) 0 858 33 33 33 000 00
Mr. Niu Zhongjie (appointed on 15 September 2023) +EEEE (MZE_=ENATRA 000 W) 000 1 1 000 00
BE)
Mr. Xu Znihao (appointed on 15 September 2023) HEERERZEZ=FNATEA 000 W) 000 1 1 00
BE[)
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Apart from the above regular board meetings of the year, the
board of Directors will meet on other occasions when a board-
level decision on a particular matter is required. The Directors
receive details of agenda items for decision and minutes of
committee meetings in advance of each board meeting. The
board of Directors has reserved for its decision or consideration
matters covering corporate strategy, annual and interim results,
Directors’ appointment, succession planning, risk management,
major acquisitions, disposals and capital transactions, and other
significant operational and financial matters. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the board of Directors
to the management include the preparation of annual and interim
accounts for board approval before public reporting, execution
of business strategies and initiatives adopted by the board
of Directors, implementation of adequate systems of internal
controls and risk management procedures, and compliance with
relevant statutory requirements, rules and regulations.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Non-executive Directors of the Company including Independent
Non-executive Directors, are appointed for terms of one year or
three years. In addition, all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting pursuant
to the Bye-laws of the Company.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, Directors appointed to fill
casual vacancies shall hold office until the next following general
meeting and can be eligible for re-appointment at that time.

Each of the Directors appointed during the year ended 31
December 2023, namely Mr. Hu Fanghui, Mr. Wu Hongliang,
Mr. Niu Zhongjie and Mr. Xu Zhihao, attended training sessions
and obtained legal advice from a firm of solicitors qualified to
advise on Hong Kong law with regards to the requirements
under the Listing Rules that are applicable to him as a director of
the Company and the possible consequences of making a false
declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange
in compliance with the Listing Rules on 20 September 2023,
2 March 2023, 20 September 2023 and 20 September 2023,
respectively. Each of the Directors appointed during the year
ended 31 December 2023, namely Mr. Hu Fanghui, Mr. Wu
Hongliang, Mr. Niu Zhongjie and Mr. Xu Zhihao, confirmed his
understanding of the information provided by the legal adviser.

EEERERS

BREALREEEEHATRN ESFTENEARE
E$E¢$%$@EﬁzﬁmzﬂmﬁﬂTﬁﬁ
R EENESNREETE R NEERREEE 2
BUERAEMRZEC R LR EESREHED
EXB -2ERTHES EELT #I5t8 A
BMEEB - EANB HEREARZ  UKEME
AREERUEEEZARNERE - BEETHEE
BEEEEET 2T B X a0ERNEER
FHRRB MR ARSI HESSE - RITES
BN EE KRB AR BT RD 2RI TS
EXRBERERER  UKETHBEANRTE  FHE
B3R o

ZERERESE

ARABZFATES (BEBIUIFPITES) U—F
ﬁZEE%%*EEMM%%%$ﬁE$$“*
ZRBMMAMNKRRBERE LHERTTERS

o

RIBEARABRZATME) BERELURHEBRZHRZ
EEZAHETERRAGRL MERATEE
MEEEE-

REE_ZE_=F+"RA=+—HLEFEZEN
REF PR ERE - RERSEE - FERLE
RF&SERE) ERNR-_E_=FAA-+H"
2 =F=-A_B-ZE_=FfhARZ+BHKZ
7__¢hﬁ THER EHmRRSMNEIIRE

Tt EHRAPBERREFARATDESHNEE
M&ﬁhxﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ$ﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬂ%
EENRRA-—XSEBMEBEZREHERD
BRETERZEZEER -RBE_T_=F£1+_F8
=+—HLEFEZENRES BIPHERE R
Bt T BREERBEERE) HERIBH
TR REBFIRENER -

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK

23



24

Corporate Governance Report
EEERRS

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are continually encouraged to update themselves
with legal and regulatory developments, and the business
and market changes to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.

All Directors are requested to provide the Company with their
respective training records pursuant to the Code.

During the year, the Directors have confirmed their participation
in appropriate continuous professional development activities by
ways of attending seminars or self-reading.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Directors have complied with such code of conduct and the
required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors throughout the year
ended 31 December 2023.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March 2012.
It comprises one Executive Director and three Independent
Non-executive Directors, and is currently chaired by Mr. Tang
Liang.

[ts primary objectives include reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board under diversified perspectives set out
in the Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate.
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The Company has formulated the nomination policy, and factors
which would be used as reference by the Nomination Committee
in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate for director
include, inter alia, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy, willingness to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as Board member, diversity of the Board, and
such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee held three meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which aims to
set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity of
Directors, in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise,
culture, independence, age and gender appropriate for the
requirements of the business development of the Group.

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange
will not consider diversity to be achieved for a single gender
board. During the year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. Wu Xiaoli
acted as the female Director. As at the date of this report, the
Board comprises nine Directors, including one female Director.
There are three independent non-executive Directors on the
Board which help promote critical review and control of the
management process. Based on the foregoing, the Nomination
Committee considers that the current Board is sufficiently
diversified in terms of its gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service.

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of
the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in
the workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior
management as at the date of this report:
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The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least
one female Directors and 20% of female employees of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and considers that
the above current gender diversity is satisfactory. The Board
will endeavour to maintain at least female representation on
the Board and take opportunities to increase the proportion of
female members over time as and when suitable candidates are
identified.

The Company has been taking, and will continue to take steps
to promote gender diversity at the Board and management
levels. To achieve diversity at workforce level, the Group has set
out the following targets and policies:

(@ the Group is committed to providing career development
opportunities to its female staff. Since Listing, the Group
has deployed resources in training senior female staff who
have long and relevant experience in the Group’s business,
including but not limited to accounting and finance,
operation and research and development. The Directors
believe that this policy could develop a pipeline of potential
successor and provide required manpower resources to
achieve gender diversity in the Board.

(b) the Group has put in place appropriate recruitment and
selection practices such that a diverse range of candidates
are considered.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board was not
aware of any mitigating factors or circumstances which make
achieving gender diversity across the workforce (including senior
management) more challenging or less relevant.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Under the code provision E.1.2, the Company should establish
a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and duties. The roles and functions of the
Remuneration Committee include the determination of the
specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and
senior management of the Company, including benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, such as any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment, and make recommendations to the board of the
remuneration of non-executive Directors.
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As at the date of this report, members of the Remuneration
Committee included:

Mr. Tang Liang
Mr. Wu Hongliang
Mr. Niu Zhongjie
Mr. Xu Zhihao

Three meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held in
2023 to discuss remuneration related matters.

The Remuneration Committee has considered and reviewed
the existing terms of employment contracts of the executive
Directors and appointment letters of the non-executive
Directors with reference to the factors including salaries paid
by comparable companies, performance of the Directors, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Company and desirability of
performance-based remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
considers that the existing terms of employment contracts of the
executive Directors and appointment letters of the non-executive
Directors are fair and reasonable. Details of the emoluments of
the Directors are set out in note 8 of this report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company’s external auditors are Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited (the “Auditors”). The audit committee of the Group
(the “Audit Committee”) is responsible for considering
the appointment of the external auditors and reviewing any
non-audit functions performed by the external auditors,
including whether such non-audit functions could lead to
any potential material adverse effect on the Group. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, the auditor's remuneration is
HK$1,880,000.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As required by Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
established an Audit Committee with written terms of reference
which deal clearly with its authority and duties. Its principal
duties are to review and supervise the Group’s financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems. As
at the date of this report, members of the Audit Committee
included:

Mr. Niu Zhongjie
Mr. Xu Zhihao
Mr. Wu Hongliang
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The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended
31 December 2023.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are:

° to provide the Directors with an independent review of
the effectiveness of the financial reporting process internal
control and risk management system of the Group;

° to oversee the audit process;

° to ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, financial reporting functions, as well
as those relating to the Group’s ESG performance and
reporting;

° to review the changes, since the last annual review, in
the nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG
risks), and the issuer’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

o to review the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks (including ESG risks) and of the internal
control systems, and the work of its internal audit function
and other assurance providers;

° to review the extent and frequency of communication of
monitoring results to the board (or board committee(s))
which enables it to assess control of the Group and the
effectiveness of risk management;

° to review significant control failings or weaknesses that
have been identified during the period, and the extent
to which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or
contingencies that have had, could have had, or may in
the future have, a material impact on the Group’s financial
performance or condition;

° to review the effectiveness of the Group’s processes for
financial reporting and compliance of the Listing Rules; and

° to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by
the Directors
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
has reviewed the unaudited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and has met with the
independent auditor. The Audit Committee has also discussed
matters with respect to the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Company and internal control with management.
The Audit Committee reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance. The Audit Committee has
conducted review of the risk management and internal control
systems, and the effectiveness of the issuer’s internal audit
function.

The Audit Committee has discussed with the Auditors on the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and the consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023, and is of the opinion that the preparation of
the consolidated results complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

The Audit Committee considered that the existing terms in
relation to the appointment of the Group’s external auditors are
fair and reasonable.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board had no
disagreement with the Audit Committee’s view on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditor.

ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING
COMMITTEE

An Anti-money Laundering Committee was established
on 12 February 2015. At the date of this report, members
composed of two Executive Directors and one Independent
Non-executive Director. The Committee is responsible for
reviewing the Company’s anti-money laundering policy and
procedures and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board, monitoring the implementation and
compliance with the Company’s standard operation procedures
for anti-money laundering and reviewing such policy, as
appropriate, and making recommendations on any revisions that
may be required to the Board.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

An Executive Committee was established on 13 April 2018. At
the date of this report, members composed of four Executive
Directors. The Committee is responsible for monitoring the
day-to-day operation of the Company and any of the Company’s
subsidiaries (“Subsidiary”) from time to time and should be
reported to the Board.

INVESTMENT STEERING COMMITTEE

An Investment Steering Committee was established in June
2010. At the date of this report, members composed of
two Executive Directors and two Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Committee is responsible for the consideration,
recommendation of potential investment projects. Ad-hoc
meetings will be held when potential projects are identified.
During the meeting, they will review individual project’s position
and action to be taken if necessary, and to recommend to the
board for consideration and approval.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors’ responsibilities for the accounts and the
responsibilities of the Auditors to the shareholders of the
Company are set out on pages 70 to 71 of this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate
risk management and internal control system and for reviewing
its effectiveness on an annual basis, in respect of controls on
financial, operational, compliance and risk management, to
safeguard shareholders’ interest and the Group’s assets.

The risk management and internal control system are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance. The system
aims to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks of failure in
achieving the Company’s objectives.
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Main features of the risk management and
internal control system

The objectives of the risk management and internal control
framework of the Group include:

° to enhance corporate governance standards;

° to continuously establish and improve the company-wide
and top-down approach risk management and internal
control system;

° to strengthen the Group’s risk management and internal
control in compliance with the Main Board Listing Rules
requirements; and

° to address on-going changes and challenges and reduce
uncertainties.

Three-Line defense risk management model

The Group has used a three-line defense risk management
model to identify, assess, mitigate and manage risks. At the
first line of defense, operational departments are responsible for
identifying, assessing and monitoring risks associated with each
business. The management, as the second line of defense, sets
out policies and procedures, defines management structure, and
provide guidance on risk management. It ensures that risks are
within the acceptable range and that the first line of defense is
effective. As the third line of defense, the Audit Committee, with
the assistance of the Group’s internal audit department, ensures
that the first and second lines of defense are effective through
on-going assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control system. The
Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, oversees
and reviews the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems over its business operations annually and on an
ongoing basis.

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant Risks
The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Identification

° Identifies risks that may affect the Group’s businesses.

Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
baseline developed by the management; and

° Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood of
their occurrence.

EEERERS

Rz ER R ARG E 2 T E5RE

FEBRRBREERABEEERZ BREE:

s RABEERBKE,

. TEEYKRIEERATSE LM P ZARERE
HERREREESIE ;

e HERIKREDRAUEE MEEAEEZ AR
EERREEE ; &

s ERFEEFAE BLTHBRER-

ZEMREREEERED

FEBER=EHZAREERIHA FFE B
BREERR SEHLPINE-—EBMEREEH
FEAERAEBREFAR AR mMEEERR
EHRREF FREEERBEREHMRRKREERES
ERB BRI EERT ABHIEIER 28
EAKRE-—BHEEARB - FREZBME &
REEERAEREABERIFIZHE T BB
B ERERREERANSEEFREZREM
REWME  BIRE—BRE_BHREIEMRY &
EEAEREZETRY T BEIRKBREEREE
FEBRXFEENRAREERNINEZRS

AR#EN T EREEERRABRZER
FEERAR#  FEREEENRBRZEF BT
LI

#
s HAPERELAEEEF AR
#1E

o FMEEREEESEZNLERMHARZE
b5 &

s ERHURBIXERBEZIREM

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK

31



32

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRS

Responding

° Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

° Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place; and

° Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

With the assistance of the Group’s internal audit department
for implementation of risk management framework and
the processes above to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and to resolve
material internal control defects, management promptly identifies
risks, evaluates the likelihood and impact of risks, assesses
the adequacy of action plans to manage these risks and
monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the actions plans. A
risk register is prepared to summarise the identified key risks,
the assessment of risk and related risk mitigating actions and
tabled for discussion by the Audit Committee, and for reporting
to the Board through the Audit Committee members. The
risk register summary facilitates the Board in reviewing the
changes in the nature and extent of significant risks, the Group’s
ability to respond to changes in its business and the external
environment, as well the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing risk monitoring and related mitigating internal control
measures.

Internal Control

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by an internal
audit team. The team plays an important part in the assessment
of the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the
Group and reports directly to the Audit Committee on a regular
basis. The Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee,
oversees and reviews the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems over its business operations annually
and on an ongoing basis. The team conducts internal audit
reviews on material controls in financial, operational and and
compliance with policies and procedures of the Group. Plans
and tools for corrective actions and control improvement are
identified and communicated with operations management to
address any issues or deficiencies identified. The team monitors
the implementation of remediation plans and actions by the
operations management and reports the outcome to the Audit
Committee.
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As disclosed in the Announcement dated 30 August 2023,
Ace Sustainability & Risk Advisors Limited (the “IC Advisor”)
completed the IC Review and submitted an internal control
review report to the Company. Material findings of IC review
and remedial actions to be taken by the Group are set out in
the announcement dated 30 August 2023. The Group has
been implementing the internal control measures to enhance
the Group’s internal control system and provided relevant
documents to the IC Advisor for a follow-up review. The
follow-up review was completed in March 2024. The Group
will continue to improve the documentation of risk monitoring
activities and reporting of risk management actions and continue
engaging an internal control consultant to carry out internal
control review for the Group annually to continuously enhance
its internal control system. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 28 March 2024.

Material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the issuer’s ability to continue as a going
concern

Disclaimer of Opinion

The Auditors do not express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. Because of the significance
of matters described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion”
section of the auditor’s report, the Auditors have not been able
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support the
use of going concern basis and therefore to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In
all other respects, in auditor’s opinion, the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred net loss of HK$45,874,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group
had net current liabilities and net deficit of HK$681,435,000
and HK$378,250,000 respectively. As at 31 December
2023, the Group defaulted on repayment of certain interest-
bearing borrowings and film investment loans (including those
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss and derivative financial liabilities) with principal amounts of
HK$500,521,000, and have a further interest-bearing borrowings
and film investment loans (including those classified as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and derivative
financial liabilities) with principal amounts of HK$174,623,000,
which were repayable within one year. These borrowings and
film investment loans of HK$675,144,000 in total exceed the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents of HK$52,003,000 as at 31
December 2023.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have prepared
a cashflow forecast covering fifteen months from the end of
the reporting period (the “Forecasted Period”) for the Group’s
going concern assessment (the “Cashflow Forecast”). The
validity of the going concern assumption on which these
consolidated financial statements have been prepared depends
on the outcome of the measures to improve the Group’s liquidity
and financial position, including whether (i) new sources of
finance will be obtained to support the Group’s operating and
financing cash outflows; (i) re-financing or extensions will be
obtained for the Group’s existing interest-bearing borrowings
and film investment loans (including those classified as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial
liabilities); (i) the implementation of the Group’s business
strategy could enhance profitability and cash inflows of the
Group; and (iv) the implementation of the Group’s cost control
strategies on its selling, distribution and administrative costs and
film investment expenditures could reduce the cash outflows
of the Group. However, the Auditors considered that they
have not been provided with sufficient supporting information
of the key assumptions and inputs adopted in the Cashflow
Forecast, which they have requested, including to support the
validity of the Cashflow Forecast (i) the re-financing or extension
agreements for the existing interest-bearing borrowings and
film investment loans to support the deferred repayment of
borrowings and loans in the Forecasted Period; (i) detailed
plans and signed agreements for the new source of finance to
support the Group’s operating and financing cash outflows; and
(iii) detailed plans and signed business cooperation agreements/
memorandum of understanding in relation to the implementation
status of the formulated new businesses, and the estimated
gross profit margin with reference to the comparable companies/
recent industry data on improving the profitability and cashflow
of the Group.

The Board’s response to the basis for
disclaimer of opinion

The Group has been actively negotiating with lenders for
re-financing and/or extension of repayments of overdue
borrowings. At the material time of preparation of the Cashflow
Forecast and up to the date hereof, the Group was still in the
course of negotiating with the lenders and could not provide
lenders’ consents on the re-financing or extension of repayments
of overdue borrowings as requested by the Auditors.
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At the same time, the Group is exploring new financing
opportunities such as share subscription and sales of partial of
the fim’s interests. These financing opportunities are still under
internal discussion stage and so no detailed plan/evidence could
be provided to the Auditors at this stage.

The Group expected that new business would commence in
2024 generating new sources of income. At the material time
of preparation of the Cashflow Forecast, the Group is still
discussing with the potential business partners on certain terms
and conditions, and thus, certain of these business cooperation
agreements or memorandums of understanding has yet to be
entered into. Consequently, no evidence is provided to prove the
validity of new sources of income as requested by the Auditors.

Management’s position

The Directors considered that the assumption of deferred
repayment on borrowings and loans during the Forecasted
Period is valid, as during the discussion of the existing interest-
bearing borrowings and film investment loans, the lenders
showed willingness not to demanded an immediate repayment
of the existing loans and borrowings within a reasonable time
after taking into consideration (i) the time required for recovery
after prolonged period of COVID-19 which severely affected
the business of the Group, (i) the long-term business plans
and timeline presented to the lenders, and (iii) the Group’s
proactiveness to reach out to the lenders and discuss the
follow-up repayment plans. On the other hand, the Auditors
considered that unless written agreement(s) was signed, all the
interest-bearing borrowings and film investment loans should be
repayable based on the contractual repayment date and shall be
taken into consideration in the preparation of Cashflow Forecast.

The Group considered that the assumption on new sources of
income during the forecast period is valid as key terms, such as
service fees and service period, had been verbally agreed with
the counterparties and therefore the revenue and corresponding
cash inflows based on the agreed timeframe had been
incorporated in the Cashflow Forecast. The Auditors, on the
other hand, considered that such income could not be justified
in the preparation of Cashflow Forecast as no signed business
cooperation agreements/memorandum of understanding is
provided which could evidence the existence and validity of the
new sources of income.
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Audit Committee’s view

The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed with the
Disclaimer Opinion as the management could not provide
sufficient appropriate audit evidence underpinning the Cashflow
Forecast to the Auditors. Members of the Audit Committee
discussed with the management prior to the issue of the Results
Announcement to understand and enquire the basis to prepare
the consolidated financial statement on a going concern basis
and the Company’s proposal to address the Disclaimer Opinion.
The Audit Committee noted that the Group has undertaken or
in the progress of implementing the Measures to improve its
liquidity position.

The Audit Committee also discussed with the Auditors to
understand the reasons that trigger their issuance of Disclaimer
Opinion. After discussing separately with the management of
the Group and the Auditors, and with careful consideration, the
Audit Committee agreed with the management’s position and
judgements on substantial judgmental areas.

The Audit Committee is of the view that as at the date of this
report, it is not aware of any indication that any of the Measures
cannot be completed. With reference to the Cashflow Forecast
which is prepared upon the assumption that the Measures
will be successfully implemented, the Board is of the view
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the next fifteen
months from the date of approval for the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Audit
Committee is of the view that the management should continue
its best efforts in implementing the Measures with the intention
of mitigating the Group’s liquidity pressure and removing the
disclaimer opinion in the next financial year.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Audit Committee also ensures that proper whistleblowing
policy is in place so that employees can report any concerns,
including misconduct, impropriety or fraud in financial reporting
matters and accounting practices, in confidence and without
fear of recrimination, for a fair and independent investigation
and the appropriate follow-up action. Employees can report
these concerns to either the Group internal audit department
or chairman of the Audit Committee. The identity of the
whistleblower will be treated with the strictest confidence.

In 2023, no incidents of fraud or misconduct were reported
from employees, Shareholders or stakeholders that had a
material effect on the Company’s financial statements or overall
operations.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board ensures the inside information is kept strictly
confidential until the relevant announcement is made. An
employee who becomes aware of a matter or event that he/she
considers to be material or inside information shall report to his/
her division/department head who will assess the sensitivity of
the relevant information and, if considered appropriate, escalate
and report to the Board and/or the company secretary of the
Company. The Directors are not aware of any significant areas
which need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

COMPANY SECRETARY’S TRAINING

During the year ended 31 December 2023, each of Mr. Ho
and Mr. Cheung has received no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to refresh his skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings can send a written request to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company to request a Special General Meeting
(“SGM”).
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The written request should be deposited at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 01, 12/F,
1111 King’s Road, Taikoo Shing, Hong Kong, for the attention of
the Company Secretary.

The written request must state the resolution(s), accompanied by
a statement of the matters referred in the proposed resolution(s)
and signed by the shareholder(s) concerned.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in order,
the Company will convene a SGM within twenty-one (21) days of
the deposit of the request. The actual SGM shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of the written request.

Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meeting

The procedures for shareholder(s) to put forward proposals at
SGM include a written notice of those proposals being submitted
by the shareholder(s) of the Company, addressed to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 01, 12/F, 1111 King’s
Road, Taikoo Shing, Hong Kong.

Procedures for nomination of Directors for
election

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available on the Company’s website at
www.starlightcul.com.hk.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) in general meeting
may from time to time declare dividends in any currency to be
paid to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
but no dividend shall be declared in excess of the amount
recommended by the board of directors of the Company (the
“‘Board”) and the Board may from time to time pay to the
Shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the Board to
be justified by the profits of the Company, in accordance with
the provision of the memorandum of association and Bye-laws
of the Company (the “Bye-Laws”) and the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended from time to time) (the “Companies
Act’).
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In accordance with the applicable requirements of the Bye-
Laws and the Companies Act, the Company shall not declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of profits available for
distribution if:

(@ it would render the Company unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of the Company’s assets would thereby
become less than its liabilities.

In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the form of
shares. The Board may further resolve that such dividend be
satisfied wholly or in part by the distribution of specific assets
of any kind and in particular of paid up shares, debentures or
warrants to subscribe securities of the Company or any other
company, or in any one or more of such ways, and where any
difficulty arises in regard to the distribution the Board may settle
the same as it thinks expedient.

In respect of any dividend that the Board or the Company in
general meeting has resolved that such to be paid or declared
on any class of the share capital of the Company, the Board may
further resolve either:

(@  that such dividend be satisfied wholly or in part in the form
of an allotment of shares credited as fully paid up, provided
that the Shareholders entitled thereto will be entitled to
elect to receive such dividend (or part thereof if the Board
so determines) in cash in lieu of such allotment; or

(b) that the Shareholders entitled to such dividend shall be
entitled to elect to receive an allotment of shares credited
as fully paid up in lieu of the whole or such part of the
dividend as the Board may think fit.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the
Board, which will take into account, inter alia, the following
factors when considering the payment or declaration of
dividends:

(@) the Group’s actual and expected operations, financial
performance and conditions and liquidity position;

(o)  the Shareholder’s interests;

(c) the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;
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(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(e) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans;

()  statutory and regulatory restrictions;

(9) general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have any impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Company; and

(h)  any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting
Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management
with a sustainable dividend policy. The Board will continue to
review the dividend policy and reserve the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the dividend
policy from time to time, and the dividend policy shall in no way
constitute an assurance or a legally binding commitment by
the Company in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend in any particular
amount for any given period.

AMENDMENT TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENT

The Board proposes to amend the existing memorandum and
bye-laws (“Memorandum and Bye-Laws”) of the Company
and to adopt an amended and restated memorandum and bye-
laws of the Company (“Proposed Amendments”) in order
to (i) bring the Memorandum and Bye-Laws in line with the
amended Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules which came into effect
on 1 January 2022; (ii) expressly provide for the co-chairmen
arrangement on the Board; (iii) provide the Company with more
flexibility and provide Shareholders with the option of attending
general meetings through electronic means; and (iv) incorporate
certain housekeeping amendments.
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The Proposed Amendments became effective upon the approval
by the Shareholders by way of a special resolution at the
annual general meeting on 15 September 2023. For details of
the Proposed Amendments, please refer to the announcement
dated 28 March 2023 and 15 September 2023 of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the
Company'’s constitutional documents during the Year and up to
the date of this report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company discloses relevant information to shareholders
through the Company’s annual report and financial statements,
the interim report, as well as the AGM. The AGM allows the
Directors to meet and communicate with shareholders. The
Board believes that such an established mechanism can ensure
independent views and input from the shareholders are available
to the Board.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate
website is maintained to disseminate Company announcements
and other relevant financial and non-financial information
electronically on a timely basis.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy from
time to time. Having considered the multiple channels of
communication and engagement in place, the Board is satisfied
that the shareholders’ communication policy has been properly
implemented during 2023 and is effective.

The Board considers that each independent non-executive
Director brings his own level of experience and expertise to
the effective functioning of the Board. The Board seeks the
development of an effective working environment for the
executive and independent non-executive Directors so as to
improve the quality of the decisions made by the Board without
constraining the independent views of the independent non-
executive Directors. Regular Board meetings were held during
the year with open discussion between the executive Directors
and the independent non-executive Directors so as to enhance
mutual understanding and effective working relationships. The
Group has established mechanism to ensure independent views
and input are available to the board.

EEERERS

BEREICRENR_Z_=FNAT+EHETZ

Hﬁ%%@ﬁﬁ%iu%ﬂﬂ/\u&%%t/&@E',éExﬁZ =)z
BEBEIZFF F2RARRAEMATE=F

=E= +/\E|)§z_7__ﬁ5jlﬁ+£52”i°

BR £ PR B2
AREEARHS AL E

BRI AREZEE
i“'i,%b

XHERKREE

RRERABE

FABEBERBDZERKRYHRE S RHHRSE L
ERRRBFEFREORIKEMAEEN -RRBEX
ERREFERREANBER - EFERA LA
ARG RARESTTRERRNBUS R KES-

%L—ﬂ%@kﬁ%ﬁ%?&iﬁ TABDERIL AL
UBFAAKRFEBRARE 2R E U HME R
MBRIFEMBER -

FRBEFTHERARRBMBRNETE R K
M- EERBRBBERMBZZARER EF8
ERRFREARREN _BE__FEBEEKE
BEAMM -

EXERRBBUATESTNERLNERES
ERUANMER EFERHANTEFTEBIL
FHITEFEEN I FRE BREFOREILL

FHRTEFREBIERNARE T ESEFER
REZR - FRERETEFEIE ERTEFEE

TIFATEFET AR R BUIRRIL T 2 1
BUBMHN I MG AEECSRIUKBRES
ERENESBURRRER-

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK

41



42

Directors’ Profiles

ERERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tang Liang (“Mr. Tang”), aged 46, has been appointed as
an executive director on 18 September 2020. Mr. Tang has been
serving as (i) a director of Tencent Music Entertainment Group, a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock symbol:
TME), since April 2014, (i) an independent non-executive
Director of CMGE Technology Group Limited (A F Rl £ F
BBR/AE]), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 00302), since September 2019,
(i) the chairman of China Investment Financial Holdings Fund
Management Company Limited (&R ESEEFRAE)
since April 2015, (iv) a director of CAS Health Industry (Beijing)
Company Ltd. (FREMEEREZE (65 BIRAQE) since December
2016, (v) the chairman of Hefei CICFH Industry Investment
Management Company Limited (GBI EEREEIER
FR/A &) since December 2016, (vi) the chairman of Hefei China
Film CICFH Investment Management Company Limited (& B

TR EEERRAT) since March 2017, and (vi)) a
director of Zhongke Zhiyun Technology Company Limited (F17%}
BERZHBR AT since June 2018.

Mr. Tang graduated from Peking University in July 2000 with a
bachelor’s degree in law. Mr. Tang received a master’s degree
in litigation law from Peking University in July 2002, a master’s
degree in law from Yale University in June 2003 and a master’s
degree in science of law from Stanford University in June 2005.
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Mr. Jing Xufeng (“Mr. Jing”), aged 53, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 12 May 2021
and redesignated as an executive Director on 2 March 2023.
Mr. Jing has years of experience in the fields of news media,
audiovisual, culture media and investment management. From
July 1994 to May 2010, he served in Xinhua News Agency (it
#E1t) as the reporter of Jiangsu Branch, director of television
news centre* (BBR# B 90, director of news and information
centre* GFE{S B0y, assistant to director of Xinhua News
Agency Audio News Editorial Department* (72 t1 = &3 B4R
#538) as well as person-in-charge and director of Xinhua News
Agency Audio News Desk* (FZE# & &) . From October
2008 to October 2013, he served as the director of the China
Audiovideo and Digital Publishing Association (4 [E & & &
HFHIRE) . Subsequently, he held various management
positions in different companies, including serving as the director
of 360 Enterprise Security Technology (Beijing) Group Co., Ltd.
(360 EZ 2T JER) £EABRAF) from October 2017
to December 2018, the chairman of Tengyue Culture Media
(Beijing) Group Co., Ltd. (BBREEEE b5 £EEBRAR)
from September 2016 to December 2020, the executive director
of Beijing Jinhui Graham Investment Limited b R &ESIREE
E A EAT]) from April 2019 to December 2020, the chairman
and manager of Tianjin Tengyue Tianxia Culture and Technology
Co., Ltd* (R:ZERKX T XERHEBR AR since June 2017,
the vice chairman of Zhongan Huixin Investment Management
Co., Ltd. (FZEEFEKEEEBRAT)since July 2017, the
director of Moer Xingling (Beijing) Network Technology Co.,
Ltd* (EBEE (bR A4EHE B RAF) since September
2017, the director of Zhejiang Talent Television & Film Co.,
Ltd. G IEEELRRMDBERLXE), a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code 300426,
since May 2019 and the independent director of CITIC Press
Corporation (FAEHREBRMNDERAE), a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code 300788,
since September 2016.

Mr. Jing graduated from Yangzhou University majoring in
Chinese Language and Literature in June 1994.
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Mr. HU Fanghui (“Mr. HU”), aged 58, joined the Group in
October 2021 as a managing director of the Group focusing on
the Group’s business development, government relations and
capital markets. He is also currently serving as the chairman of
the board of China Science IntelliCloud Technology Co., Ltd. (/7
REEREFEARAST)and is responsible for the company’s
strategy planning, public relations and investments. From
2010 to 2018, he served as the vice president of Chia Tai
Group (IEXEME) and the vice chairman and chief executive
officer of CP Modern Living Group (IE X ¥4 & & E) which
he was responsible for real estate development, investments
and general management of the group, the Belt and Road
Initiative investment cooperation, government relations, and
investment cooperation with large Chinese enterprises. From
2015 to 2010, Mr. HU served as the president of % BIF]&EH
(Jinkaili Group™) and was responsible for real estate development
and management, investments, and business operation
management.

Mr. HU received his Bachelor’s degree in Management from 355
3@ AE (Beijing Jiaotong University*).

Mr. Luo Lei (“Mr. Luo”), aged 54, is a television and film
director and producer. A graduate of the prestigious Directing
Program of Beijing Film Academy and a member of the
Producers Guild of America, Peter has been involved in film and
television productions for decades. Peter produces powerful,
innovative and diverse visual narratives that sit at the intersection
of prestige and wide commercial appeal, like & &\ 78 “Marshall",
e &4 “Crazy Rich Asians”, R 5 “Midway”, 2SR
= “Scary Stories to Tell in the Dark”, E 22 “Wuhan Wuhan”,
e E “Malignant”, f# “Umma” and so on. Peter also
worked as an executive producer, director, screenwriter, and
showrunner, making many critically acclaimed and highly-rated
film and television programs, starting in 2001. These include:
BEMSYCIEIERE “Love in Sunshine”, which was the first TV
drama in China that finished the whole production outside the
country; EE1ER “Blooming Hibiscus,” which was the first
TV drama with a city marketing plan in China; the TV series
BIRE2EZ “Plainclothes Policeman,” which was broadcast on
CCTV-1, ranked in the top three in ratings for a year, and won
many awards including ‘The Five Best National Works’ and the
‘Outstanding TV Drama Awards from the State Administration
of Radio, Film and Television’; Z1g & “Snowy Eagle”, which
was broadcast on CCTV-1, and was the highest-rated show of
that year, while also setting a record of 1.5 billion views online;
and BESHEAM PRI EE “Papa, Can You Hear Me Sing,” which
was the highest-rated show in China the year it debuted. Due
to Mr. Luo’s contribution to promote diversity and inclusion in
the industry, Mr. Luo has been awarded the Griot Gala Award
in 2020 and has been rated as one of the Top dealmakers in
Hollywood in 2020 by the Variety Magazine.
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Mr. Sang Kanggiao (“Mr. Sang”), aged 48, has been
appointed as an executive Director on 20 February 2020.
Mr. Sang obtained a bachelor's degree in electrical engineering
from Beijing Institute of Technology. Mr. Sang has over 19 years
of experience in the securities investment industry in Hong Kong
and the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Sang also serves as an
executive director and the chairman of the board of directors of
U Banquet Group Holding Limited (BEE£EITRAERAR),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 1483).

Ms. Wu Xiaoli (“Ms. Wu”), aged 34, has been appointed as an
executive Director and a member of the Executive Committee
on 23 July 2019. Ms. Wu obtained a Bachelor Degree in English
from China Jiliang University in 2012. She was the general
manager of FINEEIZRBRAF], a company established in
the PRC, from 2012 to 2017. Since 2017, Ms. Wu has served
as the general manager of HIMNIFEIXIERIRBRAR (*HZ
Bochuang”).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. NIU Zhongjie (“Mr. Niu”), aged 56, holds a Bachelor of
Arts in Business Administration awarded by Northeast Missouri
State University, Missouri USA in May 1994. He also holds a
Degree of Master of Business Administration awarded by The
University of Hong Kong in December 1999. Mr. NIU has worked
with various financial institutions and has extensive experience in
equity capital markets. He is currently the responsible officer for
type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities of Vision Finance Asset Management Limited.
He is also a director of Vision Finance International Company
Limited and the responsible officer of the company to carry on
type 1 (dealing in securities) and type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activities.

He is currently an independent non-executive director of Nanjing
Sample Technology Company Limited (B8R = B &£ IR 1D B IR
‘AT (stock code: 1708), Peiport Holdings Limited (1% F=1%28 A
FR/AE]) (stock code: 2885), New Media Lab Limited (Fr &2
BBR/AE]) (stock code: 1284), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. NIU was an executive director of Beijing Sports and
Entertainment Industry Group Limited Qb REE B XILEXEH
BRAT]), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1803) between 23 April
2015 to 7 November 2018. He was also an independent non-
executive director of Gold-Finance Holdings Limited. (&3
TR B R/AF)) (“Gold-Finance”) between 3 February 2016
and 15 May 2019. Gold-Finance was a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1462) but the
trading of Gold-Finance’s securities on the Stock Exchange
was suspended on 5 May 2019 and it was eventually delisted
on 16 March 2021. As disclosed in the announcements made
by Gold-Finance prior to its delisting, a winding-up petition was
filed against Gold-Finance on 3 June 2019 in the High Court of
Hong Kong and provisional liquidators were appointed in respect
of Gold-Finance on 5 June 2019 as a result of a winding-up
petition filed against Gold-Finance’s controlling shareholder in
April 2019, which falls within 12 months after Mr. NIU’s ceasing
to act as its independent non-executive director. For further
details of the said winding-up petition and delisting, please refer
to the announcements made by Gold-Finance. Based on public
information, Gold-Finance was an investment holding company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability, and its principal activities were investment
and asset management services in the PRC, property investment
and development in the PRC and building services in Hong
Kong. According to the Cayman Islands Gazette dated 10 May
2021 (Issue No. 10/2021), Gold-Finance was struck off from the
Cayman Islands Companies Register on or around 29 May 2020
in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

Mr. XU Zhihao (“Mr. Xu”), aged 53, graduated with a
Bachelor’s degree in Laws from Guangzhou Jinan University in
1994 and obtained a master of Laws from the graduate school
of China University of Political Science and Law in 2004.

Mr. XU has been practising law since 1998 and has gained
20 years’ experience in the legal industry. He founded Jincheng
Tongda & Neal (Shenzhen) (GbEm<EaEIZE (R EEHEFSF)
in 2003 and was the senior partner until 2019. He is currently
a senior consultant of the firm. Mr. XU specialises in finance,
securities and dispute resolution, and provides legal services
to various financial institutions and listed companies. He also
focuses on the investments in medical and cultural exchange
projects in the Greater Bay Area, and serves as a director
of Global Medical Group Limited (BHEEKEERFERL
@) and an independent non-executive director of Net-a-Go
Technology Company Limited (482 %} B [R/A 7)) (stock code:
1483), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Wu Hongliang (“Mr. Wu”), aged 53, is the founder of, and
currently the Chief Content Officer of Zhejiang Talent Television
& Film Co., Ltd* GH/IERBEAERMNBRAF), which is a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
300426). Mr. Wu has participated in the production of a large
number of movies and television drama series such as “Young
Hero Fong Sai Yuk™ (‘DEFZafgESHE), “the Great Emperor
of the Han Dynasty™ CZELAT), etc. Mr. Wu is also currently
serving as the executive director (8 #5IEE) of China Television
and Art Committee* (FEIEREMZEEE), “China Television
Council™ (R EE 1R ) B E ) and the Beijing Film Academy (3t

REF 2.

Mr. Wu has over ten years of experience in the field of movie and
television drama production. From October 2006 to December
2009, Mr. Wu served as the director* (E22) and manager* (&
1) of Dongyang Talent Television & Film Co., Ltd* (BR[ZEE
FHRAUEFR/AE). From December 2009 to August 2011,
Mr. Wu was redesignated as the chairman of the board* (&2
E£)and manager* (432) of the same company, Mr. Wu has
also worked at China Film Group Corporation ([ & & & &
‘AF))and held the position of assistant director of the television
program production centre* (R &I H &IEFR O\ FEEBNIE) . Mr.
Wu has also been the deputy general manager (& 75 B 42 48 18)
of Century Hero Film Investment Co., Ltd ((H A2 HIEES B E R
[RAED.

Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree in production management
from the Beijing Film Academy (It REBE 2 Fr)in June 1993.
Mr. Wu was awarded “The Ninth National Top Ten TV Drama
Producer™ (FNLEZ B+ EEREIHmA) in 2012.
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SEERESE

The Directors hereby presents their annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of Starlight
Culture Entertainment Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

During the year and up to 31 December 2023, the company and
its subsidiaries were involved in the following principal activities:

° media and culture business

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 72
to 73 of the annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In recent years, the media business of the Group has been
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic which has spread all over
the world in the year of 2019 and the strikes of the Writers Guild
of America and Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA in 2023. Delays in
distribution, settlement as well as receipt of income of TV drama
and film investments of the Company significantly and negatively
affected the operating results regarding these investments,
which has been reducing the amount of revenue and gross profit
recognized for a few years. The slow-down of business activities
and postponement of some of the film and TV drama projects
developed by the Group in prior years have impacted on the
financial results of the Group.

Revenue and gross profit from its media and culture business
for the year of 2023 was approximately HK$80.3 million and
HK$15.1 million respectively (2022: revenue of approximately
HK$60.2 million and gross profit of approximately HK$4.0
million).
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The Group reported a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$45.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: approximately HK$135.9 million).

Basic loss per share for the year amounted to approximately
5.55 HK$ cents (2022: approximately 16.5 HK$ cents). Net
deficit of the Group were approximately HK$378.3 million (2022:
approximately HK$330.5 million).

Key Risks Factors

The following section lists out the key risks and uncertainties
which the Group faces. It is a non-exhaustive list and there
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to the key risks
factors outlined below. Besides, this report does not constitute a
recommendation or advice for anyone to invest in the securities
of the Company and investors are advised to make their own
judgment or consult their own investment advisors before
making any investment in the securities of the Company.

1. Local taxation may increase and tax liability may increase
for future amendment of tax rules.

2. The impact of COVID-19 and the weakening in economic
and credit market conditions may continue to adversely
affect film boxing revenue and the profitability of our media
business.

3.  Risk regarding material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the issuer’s
ability to continue as a going concern may be referred
to the Disclaimer of Opinion and Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion of the Independent Auditor's Report in this
annual report, and the board’s response to the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion can be referred to Directors’ Report
in this annual report.

Future development and important events
after the end of the financial year

Details of events after the reporting period has been disclosed in
note 35 to consolidated financial Statements of page 186 of this
report.
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Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. We are
aware that, minimizing the consumption of resources and
adoption of best environmental practices in the business
process of the Group to the extent practicable is our underlying
commitment to preserving and improving the environment.
Acting in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group
endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopts effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction. The Directors are not aware of any material non-
compliance with the environmental laws and regulations during
the year ended 31 December 2023. Green initiatives include
recycling of used papers, energy saving and water saving.

The 2023 environmental, social and governance report
(the “ESG Report”) which depicts the performance on the
sustainability of the Group are available in the “Investor
Relations” section of the website of the Company at
www.starlightcul.com.hk and on the website of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk.

Relationship with suppliers, customers,
employees and other stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees and other
stakeholders to meet the Group’s medium and long-term goals.
The Company creates a framework for motivating staff and
a formal communication channel in order to maintain healthy
relationships with its employees and other stakeholders.

Compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations

In relation to human resources, the Group is committed to
complying with the requirements of the ordinances relating to
disability, gender, family status and racial discrimination, as well
as the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance
and ordinances relating to occupational safety of employees of
the Group, so as to safeguard the interests and well-being of its
employees.

There is no reported case of non-compliance with relevant laws

and regulations in relation to the groups’ media and culture, and
entertainment and gaming business.
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SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in the authorised share capital of the
Company during the year. Details of the movement in the issued
share capital of the Company are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 76 of the annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company had no distributable reserves at 31 December
2023 calculated under The Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended). The Company’s share premium account, in the
amount of HK$556,778,000 at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$556,778,000) may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@ it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium accounts.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the largest one and five largest
customers accounted for 88% and 100% respectively of the
total sales for the year. Purchases from the largest one and five
largest suppliers accounted for 99% and 100% respectively of
the total purchases for the year.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors of the
Company own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in the five largest suppliers or customers.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the year
ended 31 December 2023, other than service contracts with
the Directors and other persons engaged in the full-time
employment of the Company.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year, none of the Directors of the Company is
interested in any business apart from the Company’s businesses
which compete or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly
with businesses of the Company.

LOAN ARRANGEMENTS GRANTED TO
ENTITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not grant
any loan to any entity which is subject to disclosure requirements
under Rule 13.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Co-Chairman and Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Liang
Mr. Jing Xufeng (redesignated on 2 March 2023)

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Mr. Luo Lei

Executive Directors

Mr. Chau Chit (Deputy Chairman)
(retired on 15 September 2023)
Mr. Sang Kanggiao
Ms. Wu Xiaoli
Mr. Zhou Jingbo (resigned on 2 March 2023)
Mr. Hu Fanghui (appointed on 15 September 2023)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Wai Kwan (resigned on 20 September 2023)

Mr. Michael Ngai Ming Tak (resigned on 20 September 2023)
Mr. Wu Hongliang (appointed on 2 March 2023)

Mr. Niu Zhongjie (appointed on 15 September 2023)

Mr. Xu Zhihao (appointed on 15 September 2023)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all the Directors,
namely Mr. Zhou Jingbo, Mr. Chau Chit, Mr. Wong Wai Kwan
and Mr. Michael Ngai Ming Tak retired or resigned from
their respective office due to their respective other business
engagements which require more of their attention and
dedication.

In accordance with Bye-laws 83(2), 84(1) and 84(2) of the
Company'’s bye-laws, Mr. Luo Lei, Mr. Sang Kanggiao, Ms. Wu
Xiaoli, Mr. Hu Fanghui, Mr. Niu Zhongjie and Mr. Xu Zhihao shall
retire from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company, and being eligible to offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

None of the directors being eligible for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and Chief Executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were disclosed
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), or as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in the Appendix C3 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“the
Listing Rules”) were as follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the
Company (Long positions)
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Approximate

Number of ordinary percentage

shares held of issued

Name of Director personal interests share capital
FEEAERZZ weRTREZ

EEnA ZEREE B a5 L
Mr. Sang Kanggiao SEBRE 13,629,500 1.65%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of
the Directors nor the Chief Executive of the Company nor their
associates had any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be disclosed to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business (as
defined in the Listing Rules) to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year of 2023.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or any contracts of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries
by the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries subsisted at 31 December 2023 or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws of the Company provide that each Director,
secretary or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which any of them may incur or sustain
in or about the execution of the duties in their respective offices.
The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate
insurance to cover potential legal actions against its Directors.

The above provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently in
force and was in force throughout the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (“New
Share Option Scheme”) subsequent to the expiry of 2012
Share Option Scheme on 31 May 2022. The New Share Option
Scheme is valid and effective for 10 years commencing from
the adoption date (i.e., 3 August 2022). The remaining life of the
New Share Option Scheme is 8 years and 3 months as at the
date of this report.

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Company to grant options to the eligible participants in
recognition of their contribution to the Group. The eligible
participants include full-time or part-time employees of the
Group (including any directors, whether executive or non-
executive and whether independent or not, of the Company
or any Subsidiary) and any suppliers, consultants, agents and
advisers or any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board,
has contributed or may contribute to the Group are eligible for
options under the New Share Option Scheme.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options is not permitted to exceed 30% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. The
total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme in aggregate is
not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the adoption date. The total number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any individual is not
permitted to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue in any
12-month period unless such grant is approved by independent
shareholders at a general meeting.
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Subject always to the limits referred to above, the Board
shall not grant any options to any eligible participant which, if
exercised, would result in such eligible participant becoming
entitled to subscribe for such number of shares as, when
aggregated with the total number of shares already issued or
to be issued to him under all options granted to him (including
those options exercised or outstanding) in any 12-month period
exceed 1% of the shares in issue at such date. The Board may
grant options to any eligible participant in excess of the individual
limit of 1% in any 12-month period with the approval of the
shareholders in general meeting (with such eligible participant
and his associates abstaining from voting). In such situation, the
Company will send a circular to the shareholders and the circular
must disclose the identity of the eligible participant, the number
and terms of the options to be granted (and previously granted
to such eligible participant).

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares available
for issue under the New Share Option Scheme is 82,356,479
shares (representing approximately 8.4% of the total issued
shares as at the date of this report).

There is no general requirement that an option must be held for
any minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board is
empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period
at the time of grant of any particular option. There is no vesting
period as designated under the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme. Also there has been no options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme since its adoption and as such, there is
no applicable vesting period for the shares granted.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the New Share Option Scheme during the option period, which
shall not exceed the period of ten (10) years from the date of the
grant of the particular option but subject to the provisions for
early termination of the option period pursuant to the New Share
Option Scheme. No option may be exercised more than ten (10)
years after it has been granted. No option may be granted more
than ten (10) years after the adoption date. Subject to earlier
termination by the Company in general meeting or by the Board,
the New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years after the adoption date.
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The Board has the discretion to require a particular grantee to
achieve certain performance targets specified at the time of
grant before any option granted under the New Share Option
Scheme can be exercised.

The exercise price will be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion and notified to an option holder. the minimum
exercise price shall not be less than the highest of: (a) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the offer date; (b) the average closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the offer
date; and (c) the nominal value of the shares.

An eligible participant shall pay the Company hk$1.00 for the
grant of an option on acceptance of an option offer within 21
days after the offer date.

No options have been granted under the New Share Option
Scheme since its adoption.

DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as the Share Option Scheme of the Company, at no time
during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate. For details of the purpose of scheme, participants of
the scheme, shares available for issue, maximum entitlement of
the participant, etc., please refer to the section headed "Share
Option Scheme" and note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, so far as was known to the Directors
and the Chief Executive of the Company, the following persons
(other than any director and chief executive of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or as recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange:
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Notes:
(L)  All the shares are long positions.

o The percentages are calculated based on the total number of
issued shares of the Company of 823,564,799 shares as at 31
December 2023.

2% The entire issued share capital of Timcha Investment Limited
(“Formerly known as CICFH Innovation Investment Limited”) is
wholly and beneficially owned by ;I[2E2EXCEEERAE,
which is owned as to 34.97% by SIS IR AIZREARA
5], which is wholly and beneficially owned by SIFERI 8 &
EIEHRAF]. By virtue of the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
IREBXCEBERAD, TREINFAXKERRA
8] and JIERMEMIRIEEEIEFRAT are deemed to be
interested in all the shares in which Timcha Investment Limited is
interested under the SFO.

3. The entire issued share capital of Mega Start Limited is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Chau Chit. By virtue of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance, Mr. Chau Chit is deemed to be interested
in the 49,693,600 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
and is not aware of any other persons who had an interest
or a short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO as at
31 December 2023.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company had no outstanding convertible securities,
warrants or other similar rights as at 31 December 2023
and there has been no exercise of any convertible securities,
warrants or similar rights during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into for the year are set out in
note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is based
on their merits, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, upon considering the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to directors and eligible employees. For details of the
purpose of scheme, participants of the scheme, shares available
for issue, maximum entitlement of the participant, etc., please
refer to the section headed "Share Option Scheme" and note 26
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of
their holding of the Company's securities. If the Company’s
shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of
any rights in relation to the shares, they are advised to consult an
expert.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchase sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to and within
the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is a
sufficient public float of the issued share capital of the Company
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DONATION

The Company has not made any donation during the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

ISSUE OF SHARES

As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the Company
had 823,564,799 issued Shares. The Company has not issued
shares during the year ended 31 December 2023. Details of
movements in the share capital of the Group and details of the
Shares issued during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

No debenture was issued by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme”, no equity linked agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted at 31 December
2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance with an aim to protect the
interests of shareholders. A report on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out on
pages 21 to 41 of the annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young resigned as auditor of the Company with effect
from 31 December 2022 and Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
(“Baker Tilly”) was appointed as auditor of the Company with
effect from 9 February 2023 to fill the causal vacancy.

Baker Tilly will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming annual
general meeting (“AGM”) and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Baker Tilly as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.
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Independent Auditor’s Report on the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023

As disclosed in sections headed “Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion” and “Disclaimer of Opinion” in independent auditor’s
report contained on pages 68 to 70 of this report, the auditor
of the Company did not express an audit opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The Group incurred net loss of
HK$45,874,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023. As at
31 December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities and net
deficit of HK$681,435,000 and HK$378,250,000 respectively.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group defaulted on repayment
of certain interest-bearing borrowings and film investment
loans (including those classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities)
with principal amounts of HK$500,521,000, and have a further
interest-bearing borrowings and film investment loans (including
those classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss and derivative financial liabilities) with principal amount
of HK$174,623,000, which were repayable within one year.
These borrowings and film investment loans of HK$675,144,000
in total exceed the Group’s cash and cash equivalents of
HK$52,003,000 as at 31 December 2023.

The Board’s response to the Auditor’s Opinion

In regard to the matters described in the section headed “Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion” in the Independent Auditor’s Report,
the Board would like to take this opportunity to provide the
Board’s response and other relevant information, as well as
measures taken or to be taken by management of the Company
for information purpose.

The Board’s response to the basis for
disclaimer of opinion

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have been
undertaking measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and
financial position, which are set out in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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The Directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available sources
of finance in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. The following
plans and measures are formulated to mitigate the liquidity
pressure, to improve the financial position of the Group, and to
remediate the overdue repayments to the lenders ("Measures"):

(@) The Group has been actively negotiating with all of the
lenders for renewal and extension for repayments of the
overdue borrowings to reduce the liquidity pressure of the
Group. As at the date of this report, the Group has been
negotiating with various lenders and strives to extend the
repayment date of borrowings and film investment loans.

(b) The Group has been exploring the possibility of raising
capital by way of equity finance, or reaching out to
shareholders of the Company for an advance to support
the Group’s operations. The Group will issue further
announcement in accordance with Listing Rules for further
updates in this regard.

(c) The Group has also been negotiating with various
financiers and potential investors of the film industry to
secure new sources of finance and identifying various
options for financing the Group’s working capital and
commitments in the foreseeable future. The Directors
believe that, considering the Group’s track record of film
investments and relationship with famous film directors, the
Group will be able to obtain new financing.

(d)  The Group will continue to implement business strategy
to enhance the Group’s profitability and cash inflow. The
Group has been exploring new business opportunities to
broaden the Group’s revenue stream. The Group is actively
negotiating with various potential business partners for
new business opportunities. The Board expected that it
would be able to commence the business in or around
2024.

(e)  The Group will continue to take active measures to
control costs relating to the Group’s sale and distribution,
administration and film investment expenditure and
prioritise film investments expenditures so as to improve
the Group’s cashflows.

()  The management of the Company would strive to recover
the trade receivables and contract assets as well as
ensuring on-time payment from film distributors to further
improve its financial position.
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Views of the Auditors and the Audit Committee
on the effectiveness of the plan to resolve the
Disclaimer Opinion

The Auditors considers that, and the Audit Committee concurred
that, as long as the Measures taken/to be taken improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, including (i) sufficient new
sources of finance could be obtained to support the Group’s
operating and financing cash outflows; (i) re-financing and/or
extensions could be obtained for the Group’s existing interest-
bearing borrowings and fim investment loans (including those
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
and derivative financial liabilities) to defer the repayment for at
least 1 year from 31 December 2024; and (jii) the implementation
of the Group’s business strategy could enhance profitability
and cash inflows of the Group, and as well as corresponding
sufficient supporting evidence mentioned above could be
provided, the Disclaimer Opinion would not recur in the next
financial year.

Management’s basis on the adequacy of the
action plan to resolve the Disclaimer Opinion

As discussed in the Business and Operation Review in the
"Management Discussion and Analysis" section of this Report,
the COVID-19 pandemic and the strikes of the Writers Guild
of America and Screen Actors Guild-AFTRA in 2023 led to
significant delays in distribution, settlement and receipt of
income of TV drama and film investments of the Group, and
thus causing an adverse impact on the operating results of the
Group (including its revenue and gross profit). The media and
entertainment sector in general also encountered a slow-down
of business activities and postponement of film and drama
productions. Given the difficulties to generate a turnaround
operating results amid the severely affected economies in the
previous few years, the implementation Company’s action plan
was delayed to 2024 leading to the going concern in 2023.

Subsequent to the reporting period and as of the date of hereof,
trade receivables and contract assets of approximately HK$12.6
million was further recovered, which increased the cash position
of the Company.
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Directors’ Report
SEERESE

The Group has also been negotiating with various financiers and
potential investors of the film industry to secure new sources of
finance and identifying various options for financing the Group’s
working capital and commitments in the foreseeable future. The
Directors believe that, considering the Group’s track record of
film investments and relationship with famous film directors, the
Group will be able to obtain new financing.

The Group completed the placing of 162,000,000 shares
and raised net proceeds of approximately HK$26.4 million for
repayment of loans and for the general operation in January
2024. Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group utilised
the placing proceeds and settled borrowings and loans of
approximately HK$23.6 million to alleviate liquidity pressure.

The Group took active measures to control costs and prioritise
film investments expenditures so as to improve the Group’s
cashflows. Consequently, the selling and distribution and
administrative expenses recorded a decrease of approximately
17% in the year of 2023 as compared with that in the year of
2022. The Group believed that the cost control is effective and
expected that the cost in the year of 2024 will continuously
decrease.

The Group is continuously exploring new business opportunity
generating revenue and profit. In January 2024, the Group
entered into a strategic cooperation framework agreement to
improve the development on metaverse business, advance its
digital product platform construction and expand cross-border
e-commence operations and these businesses are business
expected to commence in or around 2024.

Apart from the above, the management is actively negotiating
with a potential international business partner for a new business
stream and communicating with a potential business partner
on investing new business in PRC in media and entertainment
aspect. The Group expected that additional new streams
of revenue will be generated in or around 2024 to improve
the cashflow. The Group will issue further announcement in
accordance with Listing Rules for further updates on the new
businesses.
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The Board had meetings with the management to explore
options to alleviate the Group’s liquidity pressure. The Directors
have also reviewed the Cashflow Forecast, the Measures and
monitored their progresses from time to time, and are of the
view that given (i) the lenders showed willingness not to demand

Directors’ Report
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an_immediate repayment of the existing loans and borrowings
within a reasonable time, (i) certain new business opportunities
materialised in 2024, (jiij subsequent to the reporting period
and as of the date of hereof, trade receivables and contract
assets of approximately HK$12.6 million was further recovered,
and (iv) the cost control strategies was proved evident given
the decrease of 17% in the cost of selling and distribution
and administrative expenses in the year of 2023 as compared
with that in the year of 2022, subject to further successful
implementation of the Measures, the revenue and cash inflows is
expected to improve and cost is expected to reduce in coming
years so as to repay debts and replenish the working capital of
the Group. Consequently, the management considered the going
concern issue will be mitigated and resolved in the upcoming
future.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Tang Liang
Co-Chairman
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B SRS

@ pakertilly
AN 514 57] S

To the shareholders of Starlight Culture Entertainment
Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 72 to 187, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of
matters described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion”
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to support the use of going concern
basis and therefore to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects,
in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred net loss of HK$45,874,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group
had net current liabilities and net deficit of HK$681,435,000
and HK$378,250,000 respectively. As at 31 December
20283, the Group defaulted on repayment of certain interest-
bearing borrowings and film investment loans (including those
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss and derivative financial liabilities) with principal amounts of
HK$500,521,000, and have a further interest-bearing borrowings
and film investment loans (including those classified as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and derivative
financial liabilities) with principal amounts of HK$174,623,000,
which were repayable within one year. These borrowings and
film investment loans of HK$675,144,000 in total exceed the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents of HK$52,003,000 as at 31
December 2023.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have prepared
a cashflow forecast covering fifteen months from the end of
the reporting period for the Group’s going concern assessment
(the “Cashflow Forecast”). The validity of the going concern
assumption on which these consolidated financial statements
have been prepared depends on the outcome of the measures
to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, including
whether (i) new sources of finance will be obtained to support
the Group’s operating and financing cash outflows; (i) re-
financing or extensions will be obtained for the Group’s existing
interest-bearing borrowings and film investment loans (including
those classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss and derivative financial liabilities); (iii) the implementation
of the Group’s business strategy could enhance profitability and
cash inflows of the Group; and (iv) the implementation of the
Group’s cost control strategies on its selling, distribution and
administrative costs and film investment expenditures could
reduce the cash outflows of the Group. However, we have not
been provided with sufficient supporting information of the key
assumptions and inputs adopted in the Cashflow Forecast,
including documents or evidence relating to potential renewal
and extension for repayments of the existing borrowings and
loans, potential new sources of finance and its business strategy.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B SRS

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(continueq)

In view of the above, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves about the
appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down of
the Group’s assets to their realisable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an
auditor’s report. Our report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. However, because of the matters
described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of
our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Cheung Hon Pui.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

Cheung Hon Pui

Practising certificate number P0O8297
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
FEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{ZE T _=F+_FB=+—HILFE

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
[z F#A T TATT
REVENUE 67 5 80,336 60,247
Cost of sales THE K (65,234) (56,219)
Gross profit EAF 15,102 4,028
Other income and gains H g A KW= 5 9,745 6,239
Selling and distribution expenses ~ $HE KD X (8,344) (13,842)
Administrative expenses THREX (26,094) (27,784)
Net impairment of financial and ETRHMEENEERETFEE
contract assets 6 (2,983) (43,523)
Impairment of film investments EXRERE 6 (896) (11,738)
(Impairment)/reversal of impairment &1 7038 ~ H it FEU R IE &
of prepayments, other receivables ~E B E GFifE)
and other assets AR 6 (7,044) 2,709
Changes in fair value of financial and £ & H1E SMEEAFE
derivative financial liabilities e 6 (1,311) (7,047)
Other expenses HhpxZ (5,837) (14,409)
Finance costs BRE A A 7 (22,122) (26,372)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRI AIESIE 6 (49,784) (131,739)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frigiige, B 10 3,910 (3,458)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FHEE (45,874) (135,197)
Attributable to: FALRER:
— Owners of the parent —SARHEB A (45,720) (135,867)
- Non-controlling interests —JEPERE RS (154) 670
(45,874) (135,197)
LOSS PER SHARE BAREE ABESKREER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE PARENT 12
Basic and diluted loss per share SRERRIEERSEE GB)
(HKS cents) (5.55) (16.50)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated — BEFIHisE B4R & B FSRFT/A—2ZB 7D ©
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

=
AR

raZEB@mR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE _ T _=F+_FB=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E=F ===
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&T FAET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FNEE (45,874) (135,197)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS HithZmEASHE
Other comprehensive loss that may HEHBOEENEEER
be reclassified to profit or loss in Hth2mEs1E .
subsequent periods:
— Exchange differences on translation of —RIBBINEFSEELEZERE4E
foreign operations, net of nil tax MNpRERIE (1,839) (6,305)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FRHM2ESR (R&)
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (1,839) (6,305)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FREEGRAE
FOR THE YEAR (47,713) (141,502)
Attributable to: BT ALRER:
— Owners of the parent —BREEE A (47,560) (142,168)
- Non-controlling interests —JEIERR R (153) 666
(47,713) (141,502)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated ~ BEM{ iz A 4R S FS MBI —IF D ©
financial statements.
EXNCIRHEBBRAT —S=FFH
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBIRRR

As at 31 December 2023 R _ZE _=F+_H=+—H

2023 2022
—E=HE B
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5E FE&T TFAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment L EN A =YSE 13 276 885
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14 1,534 1,631
Prepayments, other receivables and FB{J# I8~ HEWNFIB R E
other assets HmEE 17 290,108 297,224
Investment in films, television B BREMEREBE R
programs and program rights S 19 11,715 11,718
Total non-current assets EREBBEEME 303,633 311,458
CURRENT ASSETS TENEE
Trade receivables 8B ZEUIE 16 12,006 4,054
Prepayments, other receivables and FB{J# I8~ i EN IR E
other assets MmEE 17 97,728 102,701
Contract assets BHNEE 18 11,163 3,135
Investment in films, television BEF BREMER
programs and program rights BB RRERE 19 - 65,954
Cash and cash equivalents BEKIFEEEIER 20 52,003 79,420
Total current assets REEEHE 172,900 255,264
CURRENT LIABILITIES ik A= R
Other payables and accruals HAERIBE R EET & R 21 104,256 120,060
Contract liabilities BHEE 22 36,581 64,499
Interest-bearing borrowings and film st BEEREF R EEN
investment loans 23 441,696 469,109
Derivative financial liabilities TEEmas 23 36,984 13,808
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEFAEBRD
through profit or loss ERBEE 24 196,464 185,250
Amount due to a shareholder B —% IR RIS 30 1,099 1,132
Lease liabilities HEaE 14 1,209 1,715
Tax payable FESIRIE 36,046 41,561
Total current liabilities TEN B EEEE 854,335 897,134
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES B BaEREE (681,435) (641,870)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBIRRR

As at 31 December 2023 R_E_=F&+_F=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F = i
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F#&T FHET
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EER AR
LIABILITIES (377,802) (330,412)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY JEmENEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 14 448 125
Net liabilities BEPRE (378,250) (330,537)
EQUITY =
Share capital (&N 25 82,356 82,356
Reserves ] 27 (460,100) (412,540)
Equity attributable to owners of BAFHEE ARELIES
the parent (377,744) (330,184)
Non-controlling interests JEER (506) (353)
Net deficit S4B RE (378,250) (330,537)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 72 to 187 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
28 March 2024 and were signed on its behalf.

Tang Liang
B
Co-chairman

BELE

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated
financial statements.
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Sang Kanggiao
KES
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

A EmEER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{ZE T _=F+_FB=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARER AR
Capital Statutory Non-
Share Share redemption reserve Exchange  Accumulated controling
capital premium* reserve’ fund* reserve’ losses® Sub-total interests Total
BX AT
& RAEE  BOGHE HEE EREE  RHER Nt FERER @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEr FEx FHr TEr FHEn FEr FHn TR TE
(note 25) (note 27) (note 27)
(FizE25) (iizE27) (Iiz27)
At 1 January 2022 RIZZZF-B-H 82,356 556,778 1,564 5,000 12,806 (846,520) (188,016) (1,019) (189,035)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (135,867) (135,867) 670 (135,197)
Other comprehensive loss forthe  EAEMAERFE :
year:
Exchange differences on translation ~ RiENEREEZ
of foreign operations, net of niltax ~ EREEE MBTRE - - - - (6,301) - (6,301) @) (6,305)
Total comprehensive loss for the year £R2EBEE - - - - (6,301) (135,867) (142,168) 666 (141,502)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+ZRA=+-H 82,356 556,778 1,564 5,000 6,505 (982,387) (330,184) (353) (330,537)
Attributable to owners of the parent
BARRAEAERS
Capital Statutory Non-
Share Share  redemption reserve Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital premium* reserve* fund* reserve* losses* Sub-total interests Total
X EE
BE  RiEE  EEEE fiEd  ERRE  RHER Mt EERED hy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Ti#n TR Ti#n TR Ti#n TR Ti#n TR
(note 25) (note 27) (note 27)
(Mf3£25) (Hizter) (Hizter)
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F-B—H 82,356 556,778 1,564 5,000 6,505 (982,387) (330,184) (353) (330,537)
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (45,720) (45,720) (154) (45,874)
Other comprehensive loss for the  EREMZESE :
year:
Exchange differences on translation ~ REENEREEZ
of foreign operations, net of niltax ~ ERZER NBESHE - - - - (1,840) - (1,840) 1 (1,839)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ER2 EEEEE - - - - (1,840) (45,720) (47,560) (153) (47,113)
At 31 December 2023 RI2Z=#+ZA=+-H 82,356 556,778 1,564 5,000 4665  (1,028,107) (377,744) (506) (378,250)

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other

reserves of negative balances of HK$460,100,000 (2022:
HK$412,540,000) in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of Cash Flows
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE _ T _=F+_FB=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E=HE S
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M = FE&T TAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING{EE £ 2 HERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax PRI AIESIE (49,784) (131,739
Adjustments for: BHHEIERHE
- Finance costs —REE 7 22,122 26,372
- Bank interest income —RITH B WA 5 (6) o
— Write back of other payables —H MRS I # (o] 5 (2,527) -
— Gain on disposal of items of —HEVE -BEX
property, plant and equipment REEE Z W 5 (498) -
— Fair value losses/(gains), net: — N TFEEBER (RH)
VREE .
Derivative financial liabilities TEEmaeE 6 23,176 (2,363)
Financial liabilities at fair value AT ES ABERN
through profit or loss TRAaE 6 (21,865) 9,410
— Depreciation of property, ME--BERREBINE
plant and equipment 6 533 858
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets — A& EIfTE 6 1,899 2,560
- Amortisation of investment in — B BRMERK
films, television programs and &1 B AR R E 2 i
program rights 65,234 55,827
— Net impairment of financial and —£BIEENBEERE
contract assets FEE 6 2,983 43,523
— Impairment of film investments —BEKERE 6 896 11,738
— Impairment/(reversal of impairment) — &1 R I8 ~ H fih FE Ui
of prepayments, other receivables FIBR E & ERE
and other assets CRifE#[E]) 6 7,044 (2,709)
49,207 13,477
ENXCRHEEBMBRAT —ZS=FEFR
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Consolidated statement of Cash Flows

mMARERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{ZE T _=F+_FB=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E=HF =B
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FE&T FET
(Increase)/decrease in B 5 U ERIE (G
trade receivables (8,650) 3,781
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, 815 =18 ~ EL A FE kI8 &
other receivables and other assets E & EiF/L (1E0) 2,773 (55,338)
(Increase)/decrease in EHEE G R
contract assets (10,359) 8,468
(Decrease)/increase in other HthEA IR ESTE R
payables and accruals CRiZL) /181N (13,380) 13,511
Decrease in contract liabilities =EI=N= D% (27,986) (48,341)
Cash used in operations IREEBEFTAZIRE (8,395) (64,442)
Income taxes paid [EENEIESE (681) (1,163)
Net cash used in REEBMAZREREE
operating activities (9,076) (65,605)
CASH FLOWS FROM BREEBZRATHE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received BUWH 8 6 =
Purchases of items of property, BEYE BERKXEEEB
plant and equipment 13 (14) (7)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEYZE - HEKRKRHEIER
property, plant and equipment Fri8RI8 112 -
Net cash generated from/(used RE XSRS (FRA) Z
in) investing activities &R 104 (7
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Consolidated statement of Cash Flows

mARERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE _ T _=F+_FB=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E=F ===
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
s FE&T FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RIE£H 2 HEHE
ACTIVITIES
Repayment of interest-bearing BEREIAEEERBEHRE
borrowings and film investment &
loans (49,321) (10,057)
Proceeds from new financial liabilities £ & 2 /A S E 5t A B8
at fair value through profit or loss & RiEEFFERIE
raised 34,809 -
Repayment of financial liabilities at BB AFET AEBTH
fair value through profit or loss SRIBE (1,766) (16,446)
Lease rental paid ENHEERS (2,074) (2,836)
Net cash used in financing MEEFEFRAZRSE
activities BER (18,352) (29,339)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND H&RIRS%(EIER
CASH EQUIVALENTS WA B (27,324) (94,961)
Cash and cash equivalents at F#ZREKRRESLEIER
beginning of year 79,420 175,638
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXE MR E B
changes, net (93) (1,257)
Cash and cash equivalents at FXRZIRERAESEEIER
end of year 52,003 79,420
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES RERREESEHEBLR
OF CASH AND CASH 2R
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances IR K IRT1TAE IR 20 52,003 79,420
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated ~ BEMYMisE B4R S M BRI —E 5 o
financial statements.
EXNCIRHEBBRAT —S=FFH
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in e M HRRMEE

e

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company has been
changed from Room 1002, 10th Floor, China Huarong
Tower, 60 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong to
Room 1201, 12th Floor, 1111 King’s Road, Taikoo Shing,
Hong Kong with effect from 1 March 2024.

During the year and up to 31 December 2023, the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) were involved
in the media and culture business.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), the single largest shareholder of the Company
is Timcha Investment Limited (“Timcha”), a company
wholly owned by T2 2EXEEEBR AT (Jiangyin
Starlight Communications Co., Ltd.”), a limited company
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
In the opinion of the Directors, as of 31 December 2023,
the Company had no single controlling shareholder.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ir e M B HRRMEE

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries

1.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

J1\Y4 AS

il YNCIESE
KAB 2 EEMBE AT

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

ATIRERER @

SHBEWMT

follows:
Place of incorporation/  Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
Name registration and business registered share capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AR Hie BRTEER/
218 RE M HfER FAREMLRET AL TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# ifE
Surin Development Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI")  US$1 ordinary share 100% - Investment holding
HEEUHS BER1ET RETK
(EBREZEE))
Starry Ample Limited BV US$1 ordinary share = 100%  Film investments
HREUHS BERIET BRRE
Beautiful Asia Limited BVI US$1 ordinary share = 100%  Film investments
HRBETHE EBER1ZET BEXRE
IREEXCEEERAE  PRC HK$100,000,000 = 100%  Media and movie operations
(Jiangyin Xing Kong Culture registered capital
Communication Co., Ltd.)**
IREEXEERERAT  PE =E & 4100,000,000%8 7T BERERER
Star Media International Limited Republic of Seychelles US$1 ordinary share - 100%  Film investments
ETHHENE EBER1ZET BEXRE
Starlight Legend Investment Republic of Seychelles US$100 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding
Limited
ETHHENE BERI00ET REER
Starlight Media Inc. United States of America US$1,000,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Media and movie operations
(“USA”)
ZRRERE (FEE)) Z48/%1,000,000% 7T BERETER
Starlight Culture Entertainment  USA US$1,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Media and movie operations
Limited
%M EiBMK1,000% 7T BERETER

* IREE2EEEEARAR (Jiangyin Xing Kong Culture
Communication Co., Ltd.) is registered as a wholly-foreign-
owned enterprise under PRC law.

# The English name of the entity registered in the PRC
represents the best efforts made by the management of the
Company to translate its Chinese name as the entity does
not have an official English name. The English translation of

the name is for identification purposes only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

ERIITESEIERE
REEREEFEZER
ANB-BEFR® RHAMKBAT ZFER
BYRRB

AREEXCEREARQABRBEREDERE

MR EEERR-
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in e M HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

2

2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and derivative
financial liabilities which have been measured at fair value.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern assumption

The Group incurred net loss of HK$45,874,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group had net current liabilities and net deficit of
HK$681,435,000 and HK$378,250,000 respectively. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group defaulted on repayment
of certain interest-bearing borrowings and film investment
loans (including those classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities)
with principal amounts of HK$500,521,000, and have a
further interest-bearing borrowings and film investment
loans (including those classified as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial
liabilities) with principal amount of HK$174,623,000 which
were repayable within one year. These borrowings and film
investment loans of HK$675,144,000 in total exceed the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents of HK$52,003,000 as
at 31 December 2023.

Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023

2.1

BHEE
EuEE

REMBRENDRBEBGSMAE (1B
SEAAG)) BANEBMBREER (T
BYBREER)) (BEMAEEBMBREE
A -EBGER (EBGER) h28)
REBREMFH ZINEREMARHK - ZFH
GMBHRRTUBELMABEA R ERA
FEFARGHNEREERTESM I AR
AFEFE-BRERBEN GEHBRE
BUATE2IRMEBEENEIAEZRE
LTI

e g sk [
FRBEER®R

rEBREE-_ZE-_=4+-B=+—H
EEEEEFEFEEA45,874,0008 0 4
ERRN _E_=ZF+"_ABA=+—HZAH
BEFEKBAMFEE DR A681,435,000
BT KR378,250,0008 c R _E - =
+ZB=+—H KEBEXREEELRES
500,521,000 T E T ERBEREREK
EEN (BREIPEARATFESAEGZNE
MEERTESHAEESRE) BEBLAES
174,623,000 8B TNEtEEENBEREER
(BREPBARATEFAEZNERE R
EiTEchmaEs) BN —FRNEE 256
BEREFKEER S 675,144,000 75 i
BAEEBNR _E_=ZF+"_A=+—HMWER
£ KRIRLFETEHE52,003,00078 7T ©



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Going concern assumption (continued)

In view of these circumstances, the Directors have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of
finance in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. The
following plans and measures are formulated to mitigate
the liquidity pressure, to improve the financial position of
the Group, and to remediate the overdue repayments to
the lenders:

(@)

The Group has been actively negotiating with all of
the lenders for renewal and extension for repayments
of the overdue borrowings to reduce the liquidity
pressure of the Group.

The Group has also been negotiating with various
financiers and potential investors of the film industry
to secure new sources of finance and identifying
various options for financing the Group’s working
capital and commitments in the foreseeable future.
The Directors believe that, considering the Group’s
track record of film investments and relationship
with famous film directors, the Group will be able to
obtain new financing.

The Group will continue to implement business
strategy to enhance the Group’s profitability and cash
inflows.

The Group will continue to take active measures
to control costs and prioritise film investments
expenditures so as to improve the Group’s cash
outflows.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in e M HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

2

2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Going concern assumption (continued)

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
forecast prepared by management which covers a period
of fifteen months from the end of the reporting period.
They are of the opinion that, taking into account the
above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due in
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors believe
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainties exist
as to whether the Group is able to achieve its plans
and measures as described above which incorporate
assumptions about future events and conditions that are
subject to inherent uncertainties. Whether the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern for a period of
fifteen months from the end of the reporting period would
depend upon the following:

(@ New sources of finance will be obtained to support
the Group’s operating and financing cash flows;

(b) Re-financing or extensions will be obtained for the
Group’s existing borrowings and film investment
loans (including those classified as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss and derivative
financial liabilities);

(c) The Group’s business strategy will be implemented
effectively; and

(d) The Group’s cost control strategies on its selling,
distribution and administrative costs and film
investment expenditures will be implemented
effectively.
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2.1

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Going concern assumption (continued)

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
may have to be made to write down the carrying values
of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in e M HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

2

2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continuec)

Basis of consolidation (continuea)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, carrying
amounts of non-controlling interests and cumulative
exchange reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in
profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs for the first time for the current
year’s consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates

HKAS 8
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets
HKAS 12 and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction

International Tax Return — Pilar
Two Model Rules

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 — Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The amendments require entities to disclose material
accounting policy information and provide guidance on
applying the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosure. The Group has revisited the accounting policy
information it has been disclosing and considered it is
consistent with the amendments.

2.2

i E M BHRRME
31 December 2023 B ==&+ =F=+—8
B5tHER @
B RESRIKE

FEBRAFEZGREMBRRE ERMLL
T RAEES] B BM B REER]

ERMBREERNEI7SE  REESH
(BIE_BE-E2F+AK

B _F_AEBHE
REERFE17IR BT
)

SR GHEAFEIER B 5T EE
S BERESER]
BERHREHM BT L

SR GTEAFEsSH BA s 2 E S
BT

SR GHEAFE127 HE—XGESL
BT ZEEREE

A 7 2 FE A7
=]

SR EAFE12R 2 R R UG 2 —
BT SRR E

&K

BRTIXPEEN REEFERBEBMBR
SEAZHERRESTEAHEAEREFER
BAEFEZHBFRARRRER,HHZEER
BYBRERMBNBETESEATZE

BB B RS 1R E B SR
EA BRI Zo 2 2T — BAt
BERE

ZETTERERNBEERGSHHRER
TAEZMMSEARN S BRKERM
Sl xEBEEMBERHEREN TS EER
B WeB B A —5 e

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK

87



88

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continueq)

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments provide further guidance on the
distinction between changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates. The amendments do
not have a material impact on these consolidated financial
statements as the Group’s approach in distinguishing
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates is consistent with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption such that it does not apply
to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting
temporary differences on initial recognition such as
leases and decommissioning liabilities. For leases and
decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred tax
assets and liabilities are required to be recognised from
the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented,
with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment
to retained earnings or other components of equity at
that date. For all other transactions, the amendments
are applied to those transactions that occur after the
beginning of the earliest period presented. The adoption
of amendments to HKAS 12 did not have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government gazetted
the Hong Kong Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”), which
will come into effect from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition
Date”). Once the Amendment Ordinance takes effect, an
employer can no longer use any of the accrued benefits
derived from its mandatory contributions to Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF”) scheme to reduce the long service
payment (“LSP”) in respect of an employee’s service
from the Transition Date (the abolition of the “offsetting
mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect of the service
before the Transition Date will be calculated based on
the employee’s monthly salary immediately before the
Transition Date and the years of service up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” that provides accounting
guidance relating to the offsetting mechanism and the
abolition of the mechanism. The abolition of the offsetting
mechanism did not have a material impact on the Group’s
results and financial position.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in e M HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —E-_=F+"H=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and have not been early
adopted in these consolidated financial statements.
The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback’

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current (the

“2020 Amendments”)#

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with

HKAS 1 Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)’*

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements’
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability?

HKAS 21

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

8 The effective date is to be determined but available for

adoption

& As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022

Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5, Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause,
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments to HKFRSs is
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far the
Group has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and derivative financial
liabilities at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

4 A
e
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(a)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

Level 2 -

Level 3 -

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

b) FERMEEZRE

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than contract assets, deferred tax assets and
financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a potion of the carrying amount of
a corporate assets (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if
it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq) 2.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

b) FEMEEZRE @

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

(continueq)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(©)

or

(b)

Related parties (continuea)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

M

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group; and the sponsoring employers of
the post-employment benefit plans;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used are as
follows:

Furniture and fixtures 25%

Office equipment 25%

Motor vehicles 30%

Leasehold improvements Over the remaining
lease terms
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment and

depreciation (continuea)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at the end of each of the reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Investment in films, television
programs and program rights

Investment in films and television programs includes
the unamortised costs of completed films and
television programs which have been produced or
acquired by the Group.

For films and television programs produced by the
Group, capitalised costs include all direct production
costs, production overheads and capitalised
interest. Costs of program rights comprise fees
paid and payable under agreements, direct costs/
expenses incurred during the production of films,
and fees for the reproduction and/or distribution
of films. Production overheads include allocated
costs of individuals or departments with exclusive or
significant responsibility for production of fims and
excludes printing and advertising costs.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e)

Investment in films, television
programs and program rights (continuea)

Investment in films, television programs and program
rights is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment loss. The Group amortises its costs
based on the proportion of projected revenue income
over the life of a film/television program. Any portion
of the unamortised amount that appears not to
be recoverable is impaired in the period the loss
becomes evident.

Investment in films, television programs and program
rights is stated at the lower of amortised cost and
estimated fair value. The valuation of investment
in films, television programs and program rights,
whether released or unreleased, is reviewed on
a title-by-title basis, when an event or change in
circumstances indicates that the fair value of a
film or television program is less than its carrying
amount. In determining the fair value of its film and
television program, the Group generally employs
a discounted cash flow (“DCF”) methodology that
includes cash flow estimates of a film’s ultimate
revenue and costs as well as a discount rate. The
discount rate utilised in the DCF analysis is based on
the weighted average cost of capital of the Group
plus a risk premium representing the risk associated
with producing a particular film or television program.
The fair value of any film costs associated with a
film or television program that management plans to
abandon is zero. Impairment loss is recorded in the
amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the
estimated fair value of the film or television program.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

()

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

()

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying
assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at
the commencement date of the lease
(that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets
are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers
to the Group by the end of the lease
term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life
of the asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(f) Leases (continuea)

2. GHHEw
24 EXEEHE @

H HE &=

(i)  Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at
the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments)
and also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers
the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(f) Leases (continued)

()

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term
lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of office equipment
(that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

(9) Investments and other financial assets

()

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.
With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(9) Investments and other financial assets
(continueq)

()

Initial recognition and measurement
(continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified
and measured at amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on
the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group’s business model for managing
financial assets refers to how it manages
its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(9) Investments and other financial assets
(continueq)

(i)

(i)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial
assets depends on their classification as
follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised, modified
or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from the asset or
has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(9) Investments and other financial assets

(continued)

(i) Derecognition of financial assets

(continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights
to receive cash flows from an asset or has
entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form
of a guarantee over the transferred asset is
measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount
of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.

(h) Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“‘ECLs”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Impairment of financial assets
(continueq)

()

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable
and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Impairment of financial assets
(continueq)

()

(1)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply
the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which
credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial
recognition and for which the
loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Financial instruments for
which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial
recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs
Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets
that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the
Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

() Financial liabilities

()

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially
at fair value and, in the case of loans and
borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other
payables, interest-bearing borrowings and film
investment loans, derivative financial liabilities,
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss and amount due to a shareholder.
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4 A
e

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities

()

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial
liabilities depends on their classification as
follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss include financial liabilities designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss
are designated at the initial date of recognition,
and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied.
Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in
profit or loss, except for the gains or losses
arising from the Group’s own credit risk which
are presented in other comprehensive income
with no subsequent reclassification to profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

() Financial liabilities (continuea)

(1)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
(other payables and borrowings)

After initial recognition, other payables and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.

(ifi) Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities (continued)
(iv) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
offset and the net amount is reported in the
consolidated statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right
to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits
with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is
presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(1)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;
and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

() Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(1)

Income tax (continuea)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each of the reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

2. GHHEw
24 EXGETHER =

FRiSi &

REREMARBELERBEENIRA S
BTUBR - IRTBERAULERS

SR ERINEF U AR B2 B XA D
BIERREER B AZREAEER-
REHREREENT(EREDRIEL
MIBREE T8 M ERBER 7] Uk
E2MRBHELERBEENB R T T
DUHESD o

BIERMBEEENBRUERSHAREE
MABEE LEJRMIIREK FiRE) A&
B RREAgRZEENEEZA RN
B ERREE-

EHEEXAERBEREAZETHEENRE
MEEERERRBEEFEHEERER
BIEMBEEREIERBEEEEHR—
MERENE —RRRERHTENE
RNBEERFIBWHFASRER M&ZF
BEREASEHRSARS B RRELER
RERRERENABELEREEER
DUREIR B A P EEEFEES

BEZEBR NELEREAEEA LIELTE
MIEBEE R -

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK

113



114

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in e M HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —E-_=F+"H=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(m) Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

(n) Revenue recognition

(i)  Revenue from contracts with
customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services
is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes
a variable amount, the amount of consideration
is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods
or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2. FHEBE®

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)  Revenue from contracts with
customers (continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue from films

Revenue from films is recognised at the
later of when the subsequent sale or
usage of the royalties occurs, and when
the performance obligation to which
some or all of the sales-based or usage-
based royalty has been allocated has
been satisfied (or partially satisfied).
The actual amounts due to the Group
under these arrangements are generally
not reported to the Group until after
the close of the reporting period. The
Group records revenue under these
arrangements for the amounts due but
not yet reported to the Group based on
estimates of the sales or usage of the
royalties and pursuant to the terms of
the contracts. Such estimates are based
on information from the statement of
net receipt, historical experience with
similar genres in that market or territory,
the performance of the genres in other
markets, and/or data available in the
industry.

Consulting service income
Consulting service income is recognised
when the related services are rendered.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n)

(0)

Revenue recognition (continuead)
(i)  Revenue from other sources

(@) Interestincome

Interest income is recognised on an
accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group renders services to a customer before
being unconditionally entitled to the consideration
under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that
is conditional. Contract assets are subject to
impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for impairment
of financial assets. They are reclassified to trade
receivables when the right to the consideration
becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or the payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group renders the
related services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

() Employee benefits () EERF

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which
operates in Chinese Mainland are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. The subsidiary
is required to contribute certain percentage of its
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate outside Hong Kong and PRC are covered by
other defined-contribution pension plans sponsored
by the government of their respective country of
residence. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the
pension schemes.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(r)

Borrowing costs

All interest-bearing borrowings and film investment
loans costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq) 2.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than Hong Kong
dollars. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate
to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange reserve, except to the extent that
the differences are attributable to non-controlling
interests. On disposal of foreign operations, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

(@ Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

Going concern assumptions

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, apart from those involving estimations,
management has prepared the consolidated financial
statements on the assumption that the Group will be
able to operate as a going concern in the coming
year, which is a critical judgement that has significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements. The assessment of the going
concern assumptions involve making judgements
by the Directors, at a particular point of time, about
the future outcome of events or conditions which
are inherently uncertain. The Directors consider that
the Group has the ability to continue as a going
concern and the major events or conditions, that
may individually or collectively cast significant doubt
on the going concern assumptions, are disclosed in
note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continueq)

(b) Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are described below.

()

Revenue from films

Revenue from films is recognised at the later
of when the subsequent sale or usage of the
royalties occurs, and when the performance
obligation to which some or all of the sales-
based or usage-based royalty has been
allocated has been satisfied (or partially
satisfied). The actual amounts due to the
Group under these arrangements are generally
not reported to the Group until after the close
of the reporting period. The Group records
revenue under these arrangements for the
amounts due but not yet reported to the Group
based on estimates of the sales or usage of
the royalties and pursuant to the terms of
the contracts. Such estimates are based on
information from the statement of net receipt,
historical experience with similar genres in that
market or territory, the performance of the
genres in other markets, and/or data available
in the industry.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEFHAERMA&ET @

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

(b) At FAEERER @
(i) FEZMMEERE

(b) Estimation uncertainty (continuea)

(i) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are
any indicators of impairment for all non-
financial assets at the end of each reporting
period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of
an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. The calculation of the fair value less costs
of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

(b) Estimation uncertainty (continuea)

(i) Impairment of investment in films,
television programs and program
rights

The costs of investment in films, television
programs and program rights are amortised
upon the release of a film/television program
based on the proportion of projected revenue
over the life of the film/television program.
Any portion of the unamortised amount that
appears not to be recoverable is impaired in
the period when the loss becomes evident.
The recoverable amounts are determined
with reference to the marketability of each
of the films and television programs, and the
current market conditions. These estimated
recoverable amounts can change significantly
due to various factors. This could have an
impact on the Group’s results of operations.
Details of investment in films, television
programs and program rights, and the key
assumptions applied in the calculation of
recoverable amounts, are disclosed in note 19
to the consolidated financial statements.

(iv) Fair value measurement of financial

liabilities

The fair value of financial liabilities measured
at level 3 fair value, which include financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
and derivative financial liabilities, requires
significant assumptions and estimates,
including estimating the future revenue from
films and determining appropriate discount
rates and other assumptions. Changes in
these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the respective fair values of
these financial liabilities. Details of the key
assumptions used and the impact of changes
to these assumptions are disclosed in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

(b) Estimation uncertainty (continuea)

(v) Provision for expected credit losses
on trade receivables and contract
assets

The loss allowances of trade receivables and
contract assets are based on assumptions
about risk of default, expected loss rates and
forward-looking information. Management uses
judgements in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the calculation, based
on the past history, existing market conditions
as well as forward-looking information at the
end of each of the reporting period. Details
of the key assumptions used are disclosed in
notes 16 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services
and has only one reportable operating segment which
is the media and culture business segment, of which it
engages in investment in the production and distribution
of entertainment content such as films and television
programs.

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reporting
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed
by the chief operating decision-makers in order to allocate
resources to segments and to assess their performance.
The information reported to the Directors, who are the
chief operating decision-makers, for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of performance
does not contain discrete operating segment financial
information and the Directors reviewed the financial results
of the Group as a whole. Therefore, no further information
about the operating segment is presented.
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(b) At FAEERER @

) E5ERSFERSAEER
FBRIIE B RH

BESRBERERGNEENEBR
BEDEREBENRR BHRE
BEEAELERNRR -EEE
REBBEEL REHBRNTRE
WEMRABREER  RIFHZ
EBRRAREEFSENOARER
ERFE -FTAEEERRNFRED
AR EEMBRERMT16K2181

Zo

REFBEHR

WP ERE N AEERBHERRRBE
TRBEMNE LEE—BTRROES
2 SRR D 8 R EEERS
BYRERHESMANTNRE -

BRI I £ B FEU NS E S 8 BE M A
EEZIETRABRHIBEERIRR
S EER EAR BN AN EE R
P> NEBEEAREEE DB BE
RS (EEEEREE) BENENTER
HERERIGEHEL TS T EENEE
SBMHBEL EESENAEBEEN
BSR4 o AL I 2 WAREEHBHE
— % Ekto

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

The Group mainly operates in USA, Hong Kong and
the PRC, and the geographical segment information as
required by HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” is presented
as follows:

(@) Revenue from external customers

4,

KENEEFE @

HEHE

AEBFTENEE BEERPELE FEY
B EERBeE EE N HENMEDE
BEREZ5WTF

@) FKEIEERZWa

2023 2022
—EZ= "
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEx FET
USA = 80,336 60,247

The revenue information above is based on the
location of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

G mERTERE Rt o

(b) FFBEE

2023 2022

—E=HF —EC_F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET TAT

USA ES 292,109 300,580
Hong Kong 58 900 251
293,009 300,831

The non-current assets information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
assets.
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BESHEHE @
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about major customers BRAFrERERZEN
Revenue from major customers individually amounting REBEMNGEAEBRRGDREBIONNEESR
to over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is set out FRW=Z&EIUWT :
below:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHEx FAET
Customer A ERA 70,529 48,635
Customer B EFB 8,298 8,064
78,827 56,699
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. Yrzs ~ HAhUg A B Uzt
GAINS
Revenue from contracts with customers XEBEFREHNZWE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (@) Dz EF
2023 2022
—E-= =S
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FA T FAET
Revenue from films generated REEFMIZER 2 W
from USA market, and RE RS
recognised at a point in time 80,336 60,247
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS (continueq)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continueq)

(b) Performance obligations

As at 31 December 2023, the amounts of
transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations expected to be recognised
as revenue within one year and over one year
are approximately HK$10,873,000 (2022:
HK$84,941,000) and HK$8,640,000 (2022:
HK$1,184,000), respectively.

5. UWras~ E AU A B lilas o0

kKEBEREHNZHE =

(b) EAIZEE

R_E_=F+_A=+—H’'9Ff
ERAERBHNEFNIRZER 2S5
R —FEAR—FBDERAUW
#%910,873,000 T (ZEBE - =
84,941,0007 7T) 8,640,000/ 77 (Z =
4 11,184,000 7T) ©

Other income and gains H g A B W=
2023 2022
—E-= =B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Consulting service income B ARFE U A 3,998 2,637
Bank interest income RITH 2 UL A 6 =
Foreign exchange gains, net PE 2 U s o T EE 1,085 1,609
Write back of other payables H i fE (T FRIB#E O] 2,527 =
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEYE -HEKRKRFHEERZ
plant and equipment W & 498 -
Government grants (note) ErEE) (95 - 192
Others Hith 1,631 1,801
9,745 6,239
Note: Mok -

The government grants mainly represent incentives awarded by
the local governments to support the Group’s operations. There
were no unfulfiled conditions or contingencies attached to these
government grants.
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. FRIRAIRSIE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ SEBEBRRABRILENG, GtA) UTE
(crediting): TEBER .
2023 2022
“E_=HF “ECCF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M 5 FET FHET
Amortisation of investment in films, B& ~ B & B K & 5
television programs and program — hRMEIEE Z
rights ) o 19 65,234 56,219
Depreciation of property, plant and  #)% « [k B R s I &
equipment o 13 533 858
Depreciation of right-of-use assets PR E EHTE 14(a) 1,899 2,560
Lease payments not included in the RKst ATHEBEFER
measurement of lease liabilities HER= 14(c) 439 258
Auditor’s remuneration 1Z BED AN = N 1,880 2,000
Employee benefit expense (excluding 8 2871z (N ESE
directors’ and chief executive’s RESBTBRAEZ#H
remuneration (note 8)): B (P5E8)) -
- Wages and salaries —TERk#® 5,029 10,503
— Pension scheme contributions —RIRET B 99 122
Total #aE 5,128 10,625
Net impairment of financial and MR EHNEEREZF
contract assets: ZA . .
— Impairment of trade receivables, — & 5 fEWFRIERE -
net PR 16 646 26,675
— Impairment of contract assets, net — &4 & EBI(E > FEE 18 2,337 16,848
Total 4EET 2,983 43,523
Impairment of film investments BEXRERE 19 896 11,738
Impairment/(reversal of impairment)  F8 13 018 ~ H fh FE UL =x
of prepayments, other receivables 18K EthE ERE,
and other assets CRE #[a]) 17 7,044 (2,709)
Fair value losses/(gains), net: ’/_\\%’%Eﬂf/ (U z) »
HEE
— Derivative financial liabilities —-TEEMAs 23 23,176 (2,363)
— Financial liabilities at fair value — AT Et AEESN
through profit or loss Gty =N 24 (21,865) 9,410
Total Aast 1,311 7,047
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MBERT
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MEMADTWT :
2023 2022
—E-=F B _F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FA T FAET
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings st EEBEREFREENFE
and film investment loans 22,033 26,189
Interest on lease liabilities (note 14(b)) FHEE&EF B (FFsE14(b)) 89 183
Total waEt 22,122 26,372
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EFERTEITHASM

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

RiE EHRA - FEBREHFEAE383(1)(a)
)~ O RMFEURRAE EEEMNmER) R
PIFEBIMBZ A FEEEFREBITHRAERZ
AT

2023 2022
—E-=H =2

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHEx FET

Fees W 1,143 960

Other emoluments: HiN % -

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMREYRET

in kind 3,546 4,469

Discretionary bonuses MIETEAT - -

Pension scheme contributions BIREHEHRR 15 18

Sub-total INET 3,561 4,487

Total st 4,704 5,447
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EEMIFETHAGHM =
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(continueq)
(@) Independent non-executive directors (@ BWILIEMITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors KEEEBMNBUFERITESZHREN
during the year were as follows: T s
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#A T TFAT
Mr. Niu Zhongjie (Appointed on 4 $82%4E (W B - =4
15 September 2023) NA+HHEZRDT) 39 s
Mr. Wu Hongliang (Appointed on 2744 (RS _=F
2 March 2023) =ZA_HEZD 199 -
Mr. Xu Zhihao (Appointed on BRESERE WZZ2Z=F
15 September 2023) NE+HEBHEZD 39 -
Mr. Jing Xufeng (Redesignated to SBIEME (W =4
executive director on 2 March “AZHBEARTES)
2023) - 240
Mr. Michael Ngai Ming Tak BPAEAEE (R =F
(Resigned on 20 September NBZ+HED
2023) 193 240
Mr. Wong Wai Kwan (Resigned on EBEHE (R T _=4F
20 September 2023) NAZ+HEE 193 240
Total Ty 663 720
There were no other emoluments payable to the KEEMBENBILIERNTES 2 HM
independent non-executive directors during the year e (CTEZZF . |) o
(2022: nil).

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

(continueq)

(b) Executive directors and the chief

8. EFERFETHAESHM =

b)) RITEFREETHRAL

executive
Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
benefits  Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
e Rk
ik BB BIRTEAL  BATEIMR 4 ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FA7 F#7 F#7 T8 FH7
2023 ZgozE
Executive directors: ~ H{TEE:
Mr. Sang Kanggiao EEERLE - - = = =
Mr. Tang Liang ERLE - - - - =
Ms. Wu Xiaoli Bzt 240 - - - 240
Mr. Hu Fanghui HAELRE
(Appointed on 15 MRZB_=&
September 2023) NBTEHEZD - 160 - 6 166
Mr. Jing Xufeng RIBELE
(Redesignated from /. ——
independent non- —B_HHBEE
executive director on BBEIFNTES)
2 March 2023) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Chau Chit (Retired ~ BH L4
on 15 September RZz==
2023) NE+HBEMD - 120 - 9 129
Mr. Zhou Jingbo BREEE
(Resigned on 2 March MZE=Z=
2023) =B H#M) - = = = -
Sub-total INE 480 280 - 15 775
Chief executive: TETHASR:
Mr. Luo Lei BERE - 3,266 - - 3,266
Total Bt 480 3,546 - 15 4,041
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31 December 2023 —E-_=F+"H=+—H
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EERFETHAEHM »
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(continued)
(b) Executive directors and the chief (b) BITESERETETHRAS @
executive (continuead)
Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
benefits Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
e Rl
itk BWER IBTEAL  RIRETEIER FENaaEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET TAT TAT TART TAERT
2022 _E-CF
Executive directors: HiTES:
Mr. Sang Kanggiao ZEBRE = = = = S
Mr. Tang Liang ERLE - - - - -
Ms. Wu Xiaoli Sy Xeqn 240 - - - 240
Mr. Chau Chit BERE - 1,650 - 18 1,668
Mr. Zhou Jingbo BEELE - - - - -
Sub-total INGT 240 1,650 - 18 1,908
Chief executive: FETHASR:
Mr. Luo Lei BELE - 2,819 - - 2,819
Total F 240 4,469 - 18 4,727

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no director or chief executive waived or agreed
to waive any emoluments. No emoluments was paid
by the Group to the directors of the Company or
chief executive as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

The Group has been providing accommodation,
which is leased from a third party, to Mr. Luo Lei
at no charge. The estimated money value of the
benefits in kind is HK$199,000 (2022: HKS$nil).

BE_ZT_="FKR_ZT__F+°A
=+—HLEFE BEESEREETH
ANEBRIAERRETAMNE -AEE
TEBORARABDEFHEEZTHRAERN
AT FRRERFMATEEN
REMAARER R~ SR F 2 BB

&

AEB-—BERBESFLEEERERS
—HEENEBE EVEANNGFE
BEA199,0008 T (CE_-__F &%

) <
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees during the year included
an employee who was appointed as a director during the
year (“the New Director”) and the chief executive (2022:
one director and the chief executive), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining 3 (2022: 3)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company and the New Director before the
appointment as the Company’s director are as follows:

IaREHMES

rEELLRSHNEEEE —LERNESR
EREZEZEE MES) REETHAER
(T2 F —REERITETHASR)
REFNFBERN LXME8 85 T3% (TF
“TF 3% BFEARATERTIFERTH
AENRSHMEEANESNEZERE
ABEFRNAFEEFHFMFBEOT ¢

2023 2022
—E-= —_E:C

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FET

Salaries, allowances and e 2 REYET
benefits in kind 3,118 3,083
Discretionary bonuses FYIETEAT - -
Pension scheme contributions BREHE R 54 36
Total 4E 5t 3,172 3,119

The number of abovementioned highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

tAESHMEENFUTHEBEN AR
mE

Number of employees

EEAH
2023 2022
—_E-= =
Nil = HK$1,000,000 2= %1,000,0007%8 7T 4 2
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 78 75 £2,000,0007 7T - 1
Total “Ect 4 3

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
none of the five highest paid employees waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration, and no remuneration was paid
by the Group to any of the five highest paid employees
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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10. INCOME TAX

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, BVI and
Seychelles, the Group is not subject to any income tax in
Bermuda, BVI and Seychelles.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits in Hong
Kong for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

No provision for the PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been
made as the subsidiaries in the PRC did not generate
any assessable profits in the PRC for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

The subsidiaries in USA are subject to Federal Corporate
Tax and State Income Tax. The federal corporate tax rate
was 21% and the state income tax rate was 7% for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

10. FRi#%
BECRE SBELHERESHNRA

R\ AERBEAGMERE RBRE LB

SEhETBHEMMER -

AR AERRBE_E_=Gr_ZB__F
+ZA=+—HBLEFEUEREBEEREM
R @A) WA EWIFHEBFSREE -

HRPERBAENBE_T_=FK_F%
T CHE+ A=+ HIEFETERFEHE
EERBERRIET - B PR SRR
SR

SEERFY /B8 A B 7R B Bk 3B (b 2E PR AS AR S MU PR
B RBEE_=ZFK-B-_"F+=
R=1+—HLEFE BMATLEMBRER21%
KNSR 237% o

2023 2022
—g-= -2
HK$’000 HK$’000
FA T FATT
USA ES

— Current tax —BIHAR 1A 262 3,458
— Over-provision in prior years —iEFFEEBRREE (4,172) -

Total income tax (credit)/expense FNFAEMR (K% FZ 4%
for the year (3,910) 3,458
ENXCRHEEBMBRAT —ZS=FEFR
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation between income tax (credit)/expense and
accounting loss at applicable tax rates are as follows:

10.

FRi3iR @

REBMEFABENMER BR) HAXEAE
ST Z ERRERIDT ¢

2023 2022
—E-= =S

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TFAET

Loss before tax FRIQAIES I8 (49,784) (131,739)

Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate  3%75 EMR K5t EMRIE (11,407) (30,953
Adjustments in respect of current tax of FtiB1F 4 EBIERTR IEAY FE 28

previous years - 9,486

Expenses not deductible for NGk o 52

tax purpose 11,140 7,489

Over-provision in prior years B FEEBREE A 4,172 =

Uncertain tax positions THEERBIBRL - 2,778
Unused tax losses and temporary KR Z RENBRIEEE &

difference not recognised BEFERR 1,780 14,658
Utilisation of tax losses previously LA RERZ RIBEIE

not recognised (1,251) -

Income tax (credit)/expense T8 (&%) B (3,910) 3,458

11. DIVIDENDS 11. R 2

No dividend has been paid or declared during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. The Directors do
not recommend the payment of any final dividends for the
years ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
amounts is based on loss for the year attributable to
owners of the parent, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 823,564,799 (2022: 823,564,799) in
issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in

issue during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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13.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

LOSS PER SHAR
TO OWNERS OF

(continueq)

The calculations of the basic and diluted loss per share are

ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

. BAGEBAEBLEREE @

SREARBEERZABENDRBEUTH

based on: i
2023 2022
—EBE-=F B _F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FA T FAET
Loss attributable to owners of BAREE AEGEIR
the parent (45,720) (135,867)
Weighted average number of TEERARGESRELR
ordinary shares in issue #EBEE ERTERR
during the year used in the basic and N 9E
diluted loss per share calculation 823,564,799 823,564,799
Basic and diluted loss per share SRERKREEEE GBI
(HK$ cents) (5.55) (16.50)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. ME - -BERHE
EQUIPMENT
Movements in property, plant and equipment are as ME- -BMERZEESHUWT !
follows:
Furniture and Office Motor Leasehold
fixtures equipment vehicles  improvements Total
g
HIREE WAZRE AE WELEE fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT TET FERT TER
At 1 January 2023: R-E-zZE¥-fB-H:
Cost A& 904 2,568 2,485 230 6,187
Accumulated depreciation RENE (721) (2,537) (1,814) (230) (5,302)
Net carrying amount REFE 183 31 671 - 885
At 1 January 2023, net of RIBZ=F—-F—H»

accumulated depreciation NRESHE 183 31 671 = 885
Additions hE - 14 - - 14
Disposals HE - (1) (86) = 97
Depreciation provided during the year ~ ERHEZ 78 (Ff356)

(note 6) (126) (10) (397) - (533)
Exchange realignments EREE - - 7 - 7
At 31 December 2023, net of WIEZ=F+-A=+—-R>

accumulated depreciation NERHIE 57 24 195 5 276
At 31 December 2023: RIBZ=#+ZA=1+-H:

Cost HA 904 2,565 769 - 4,238

Accumulated depreciation Ritig (847) (2,541) (574) - (3.962)

Net carrying amount REFE 57 24 195 - 276
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. ME -BEREE @
EQUIPMENT (continued)
Movements in property, plant and equipment are as ME - -BERKREBEEBWNT | (B

follows: (continued)

Furniture and Office Motor Leasehold
fixtures equipment vehicles improvements Total
fE
BIREE WAERE RE MEEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TAT FET TAT
At 1 January 2022: RIE-—%-F-H:
Cost S 902 2,551 2,481 230 6,164
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (584) (2,525) (1,105) (230) (4,444)
Net carrying amount REFE 318 26 1,376 - 1,720
At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated [ S = =R = ]

depreciation NEESHE 318 26 1,376 = 1,720
Additions HE - 17 - - 17
Depreciation provided during the year ERERZITE (HzE6)

(note 6) (137) (12) (709) - (659)
Exchange realignments ERBEE 2 - 4 - 6
At 31 December 2022, net of accumulated R-Z-_&F+-F=+—H>

depreciation ?l] BRHTE 183 31 671 = 885
At 31 December 2022: RIB2ZZH+ZA=+-H:

Cost ﬁzk 904 2,568 2,485 230 6,187
Accumulated depreciation REHNE (721) (2,537) (1,814) (230) (5,302)
Net carrying amount REFE 183 31 671 - 885
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

14. LEASES 14. 108
The Group as a lessee TEBEEAEREA
The Group has lease contracts for various properties used AEBBERARHEEREENZEMENHEE

in its operations, which have lease terms between 2 and 5
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

@ REESE

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets and the
movements during the year are as follows:

X HEN F2EF-—RME > FEEF
ARAXEERLONMTERZRDBEEEEE-

FRERAREEZREERESHNT

Buildings
EgF
HK$'000
TAET
At 1 January 2022 W_E__F£—HF—H 4,191
Depreciation provided during the year (note 6) RN sHE 2 #TE (Fi5E6) (2,560)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R_-_EZE-__F+_A=+—HBxK
—E=-F—HF—H 1,631
New leases entered MEIHEE 1,802
Depreciation provided during the year (note 6) RN sHE 2 #TE (Mi5E6) (1,899
At 31 December 2023 N _E_=F+"A=+—H 1,534
(b) Lease liabilities b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FrR-HEEABEZREERESHNT !
movements during the year are as follows:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&T TAET
At 1 January n—H—H 1,840 4,493
New leases entered MEIEE 1,802 =
Accretion of interest recognised R ERIB R E (IsE7)
during the year (note 7) 89 183
Payments (N (2,074) (2,836)
At 31 December n+—_A=+—~H 1,657 1,840
Analysed into: Saliiv=I"
— Current portion —RENE D 1,209 1,715
- Non-current portion —IEmENE 448 125
1,657 1,840
EXNCIRHEBBRAT —S=FFH
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

14. LEASES (continued) 14. 1HE =

The Group as a lessee (continuead)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

TEBEAEABEA @

(c)

REmEEARESHMREDNT

2023 2022
—ZT" = B CHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) AE&EFIE (Mi5E7) 89 183
Depreciation charge of FRREERNESH
right-of-use assets 1,899 2,560
Expenses relating to short-term  EAiZHRTHE BRI
leases (included in administrative (Bt AfTEX I (Fi3E6))
expenses (note 6)) 439 258
Total amount recognised IR IBAREE
in profit or loss 2,427 3,001

(d) The total cash outflows for leases and future
cash outflows relating to leases that have not yet
commenced are disclosed in notes 28(c) and 29(b)
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

15. DEFERRED TAX

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the year are as follows:

ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

15. IEIEFRIE

NGB BRARERNREEREEE, (8
&) WARS D REREFHUT !

Changes in

Accrual to fair value of

Impairment of Amortisation  cash adjustment financial

prepayments, of investment related to Depreciation  liabilties at fair

other receivables in films, investment in allowance in value through

and other television ~ fims, television excess of profit or loss

assetsand  programsand  programs and related  and derivative
fim investments ~ program rights program right depreciation  financial liabilities Others Total

A

BfHE EREBER BATERA

HfEUEER BR BREE HEMEREN Balemas

HtEENR REERE ReBE BUERNEN RiiLemaeR
BYREAE REZEH E:tER HERRE ATHEES Hih @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TEr T THr THEr TET
At 1 January 2022 RZB--#-F-AR 18,594 6,343 (9,261) (219) (14,719) (738) =
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss mafm (463) /3 A (679) (4,884) 5258 59 = 246 =
Exchange realignments ERBER 39 14 (28) ) (30) 6 -

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-E-"F+-F=+-H

Kk=2-=£-H-H 17,954 1473 (4,031) (161) (14,749) (486) -
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss R85 (k) /FtA (10,027) (1,540) 3,334 ) 8,223 15 =
Exchange realignments ERBER © 67 ® - 6 63) -
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=F+ZA=+-H 7,925 - (705) (166) (6,520) (534) -

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of

the following item:

WERL TEEEDIELRBEE -

2023 2022
—E-= BT HF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

F#Ex FAET

Unused tax losses RENFERIBEE 167,469 162,423

Under the current tax legislation in USA, the above unused
tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of the above unused tax losses as it is not
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which these unrecognised unused tax losses can be
utilised.

BIBFEBIRITRE LR BIREEER
EREAMANIEHEEL BB RBRKRKRE
RG] c AR A KRPIAEB RRBRR @R
DR $H AR B IR TE RS 38 > (Rl UL IF % R K 2 A3
MIBEIEERIRIERIEEE

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK
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in e M HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES

16. B 5 BTk IE

2023 2022

—E-= BT F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FA&T FAET

Trade receivables B2 EWRIE 111,500 105,291
Impairment HE (99,494) (101,237)
Net carrying amount REFE 12,006 4,054

Trade receivables from royalties from films are due when
reported to the Group, and normally settled within one
year. Trade receivables from sales of investment in
television programs and program rights are due based
on the payment schedule specified in contracts. Trade
receivables from other revenue sources are generally due
within one year from the date of provision of services.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice dates or dates
of statement of net receipt, and net of loss allowance, is as
follows:

REBXRMENEZERRRER2RTAE
EESENEAEU  BER—FERNEB - HEE
REERE R E B RIENE Z BRI RE
BRI ETBIR T R ET 8 2 HA B U - H th i 2
RRNWE S EWRIE—REREHEKRFE QL
SA—FRIH - AERE L EHE 5 B
BEBHAERARRRIEMES -BEZE
WRIE R BRI R AR o

R|EMR BEZBBRIBERER B
MERNGEREQATNBBERERER ZIRE
DFWTF

2023 2022

—EZ-= TETTF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FExT FET

Within 6 month 61E B LLR 12,006 4,042
Over 12 months 12@ B Lk - 12
Total st 12,006 4,054
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

16. E F EWLFRIE @)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of B EWRIERENBERESSWT !
trade receivables are as follows:
2023 2022
= —E—

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEx FAET
At 1 January n—HB—H 101,237 80,910
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEEFEE (Mfsk6) 646 26,675
Exchange realignments BE 2 FE R (2,389) (6,348)
At 31 December R+-B=+—H 99,494 101,237

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographical region and customer type).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

RERSOHRBERBEEEETREDN
UstERMEEER -BEXLEARERE
LEREANZERF 2R BM#itE K
ZERER) NERBRET ZtERBRIA
EMEER EBREMANKRSBHATEH
ERBESRIE Y BRI R R A H IR 4 18
ANEERIEER -

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a
provision matrix:

At 31 December 2023

16. E G EWLFIE @)

TR AERCHBBEERAENESE
WRENEERRER

R-E_=F+"A=+—H

Past due
B
Less than 6 to Over

Current 6 months 12 months 12 months Total

DA 6188 A 6E12(8 12(88 4 E st

Expected credit loss rate TEEEREX 5% 10% 50% 100% 89%

Gross amount (HK$'000) BE(FEn 12,639 - - 98,861 111,500
Expected credit losses FBREEERE (THET)

(HK$'000) 633 - - 98,861 99,494

At 31 December 2022
RIEZ-HF+-"H=+—H
Past due
bkl
Less than 6to Over

Current 6 months 12 months 12 months Total

A 61EA M 6ZE 128 3 12BN £ st

Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 0% 10% 50% 100% 96%

Gross amount (HK$'000) BB () 4,042 = = 101,249 105,291
Expected credit losses BHEERE (TN

(HK$'000) - - - 101,237 101,237
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ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER

RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

17. JE(IRIE « Hth UL rRIA R H th
BE

2023 2022
ZEZ=HF B F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5F F#AT FATT
Prepayments and other assets FENMERAEMEE (a) 18,835 25,978
Impairment allowance BEREE (16,250) (23,177)
Sub-total et 2,585 2,801
Other receivables and deposits HMEWRIBE R G S (o) 105,767 105,526
Amount due from a director B — % EERIE
(note 30) (FF3£30) (©) - 5,067
105,767 110,593
Impairment allowance B ERE = (66)
Sub-total et 105,767 110,527
Films and television programs B NERBEETENR
prepayments I8 (d)
— Prepayments to film directors —FBENFEFES
BIRRIE 184,953 184,995
— Prepayments for investment in —JBFTER BRE
films, television programs and BREBREREDN
program rights TIB 229,433 231,430
414,386 416,425
Impairment allowance RER G (134,902) (129,828)
Sub-total 20508 279,484 286,597
Total et 387,836 399,925
Less: Non-current portion B FERNERER (290,108) (297,224)
Current portion BRHEAER > 97,728 102,701
ENXCRHEEBMBRAT —ZS=FEFR
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

(continued)

Note:

(@)

Prepayments and other assets mainly represent accrued
input VAT and other prepayments. In 2018, the Group
purchased three TV drama series from third parties. In
connection with the transactions, the purchase amounts
(include input VAT) were fully paid while input VAT
invoices were only partially received with an amount of
HK$19,000,000 being delayed due to the suppliers’ reason.
According to relevant tax rules in the PRC, the suppliers
are required to provide full amount of VAT invoice for the
transactions, and the Group is allowed by tax rule to offset
its output VAT payable upon presenting valid VAT invoice
received from the suppliers. As the input VAT invoices were
long outstanding and the suppliers’ immediate/intermediate
holding companies and the suppliers were being named,
in 2021 and 2022, as “dishonest civil debtors” (5154
1T A, i.e., has capability to execute obligations under
legal documents but did not take action) and “civil debtors”
(H#FTA i.e., the court ordered to enforce for not
executing obligations under effective legal documents),
and after taking into account the circumstances, the
management considered that the probability of collection
of the VAT invoices was low. Therefore, the input VAT of
HK$18,894,000 as at 31 December 2021 has been fully
impaired.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, out of the fully
impaired balances of HK$18,894,000, input VAT invoices
of RMB39,000,000 (equivalent to HK$44,136,000) with 6%
tax rate are received and verified by the tax bureau, and
therefore the impairment previously recorded are reversed.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, no further input
VAT invoices are received, and therefore no reversal of
impairment is reassessed.
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B —F+ ﬁ +—HEEEER
18,894,000 7t B2 2R & ©

BE_T__F+_RA=+—HLEFE
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

(continued)

Note: (continued)

(o)

Included in other receivables and deposits is a balance
of HK$90,326,000 (2022: HK$93,014,000) due from an
entity which is independent to the Group (“the Debtor”).
The Directors considered the credit risk exposure for
this balance is limited taking into account an amount of
HK$104,243,000 (2022: HK$101,455,000) due to an entity
controlled by the controlling shareholder of the Debtor
included in the Group’s other loans as at 31 December
2023 and 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, amount due from a director was
unsecured, interest-free and recoverable on demand.

Prepayments to film directors represent payments made
to film directors for their work in the preparation of fims
development proposal and costs to be incurred by them in
the course of work. These prepayments will be exchanged
for the Group’s investment in the films to be produced by
the film directors upon the commencement of production
of the film, which the Group has the first right of refusal
to invest in. In case the Group decided not to invest, the
Group will be reimbursed out of the film production costs
contributed by financiers of the project.

Prepayments for investment in films, television programs
and program rights represent prepayments made for films
or television programs of which pre-filming preparation
has begun but production work has not yet started. When
the films or television program production work begins
and the interest of the Group’s investment in the project
is established, these prepayments will be classified as
investment in films, television programs and program rights.

Films and television programs prepayments which are
expected to be realised within one year, or over one
year but within the Group’s normal operating cycle, are
classified as current assets. Films and television programs
prepayments which are expected to be realised beyond
the Group’s normal operating cycle which generally has
the characteristic that the production date of new films
or television programs is uncertain are classified as non-
current.

ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

17. JA{T X
B

Mok :

(0)

RIE - H fth FE U w

(&,

RIE Bz H fth

(&)

HhERRIBERESOERKE LN AER
HN—EEE (MEF AL B45§590,326,00078
T (ZTEZZF 193,014,000 7T) - EER
%’M%FR_V__E&_é::E+_H
=t+—Hit AXEBEMERNELEEA
PR RS AR B PRI A — R B BE T IE 104,243,000
7t (CTF 4 101,455,000 7T) » 45 ERHY
EERMEERC

AR T F+R=F+—H EHR—RES
TIBEAMFIRIE s R E R E KRB U[E] -

BN TFEXEENTESENBRMESTE
RERIFERIEBEREENRAM A
B ERNNIE - ZERNRERNELH
FHRARFATERHBEXEERFZEIFR
BEXNRE FEEHILEREERER I
FEEREFTRENBER T AEERFUIER
REANSENETRIFERMELER-

AN FER  BREE KRB REKRENNIE
EREERGBREANERS TIFEHRMRR
RN B R BREAE FHNTANRIE - BEER
HERRET M RELIAERNZIEAR
NRER > ZFRCREREMDERBT
BRHERAMBRERE

EARE—FERR—FULBEAEEELEE
EEBEANESENEY RERHEENRIE
FEARBEE - EAEREEEZS A
ZNEENEE RERMERENRIE BEA
BB N ERE B R F B IR R)
REAIERIEE-

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

(continued)

Note: (continued)

(d)

(continued)

When the Group decides to invest in a film to be produced
with the Group’s prepayments to the film director, the Group
has to provide further funds required for production on its
own or with other investors. A distribution agreement will
be entered into at a later stage between the distributor, the
producer and the investor(s) which sets out the recoupment
corridor for the allocation of the Gross Receipts (box office
receipts, sale of DVD, online sales, pay and “free” TV, etc.)
of the film. For illustrative purpose, a typical recoupment
corridor is in the following order:

1. Distribution fees (income earned by the distributor)
2. Distribution expenses (out-of-pocket expenses)
& Film investment costs/advances made by the

distributor to the investor(s)
Investors’ profit

Bonus/fee for the film director
Other financiers and parties

N o o M

Further percentage of sharing by the parties

The order and percentage of the recoupment corridor varies
from films to films, which depends on circumstances and
bargaining power of the various parties.

The Directors have undergone a detailed review of
recoverability of the Group’s fims and television programs
prepayments taking into account the latest available
information. Where an indication of impairment exists,
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated based on
value in use calculation. Based on information available to
the Directors when the consolidated financial statements
are prepared, an impairment provision of HK$134,902,000
(2022: HK$129,828,000) was made for films and television
programs prepayments due to the recoverability of which
through the recoupment corridor is doubtful and the
production date of new films or television programs is
uncertain.
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17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER

18.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

17. JE(IRIE « Hth UL rRIA R H th

RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS =0
(continueq)
The movements in loss allowance for impairment of BN E -HEMERSEREMEE BE
prepayments, other receivables and other assets are as BEREEEHWT .
follows:
2023 2022
—EZ=HF BT F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
At 1 January w—A—H 153,071 155,584
Impairment losses/(reversal of BRRRERIE (RERE)
impairment) recognised (note 6) (fF5E6) 7,044 (2,709)
Amounts written off as uncollectible oE E A Uk B 2 B (8,972) -
Exchange realignments bE 2 aR 2 9 196
At 31 December n+—B=+—~H 151,152 153,071
CONTRACT ASSETS 18. BB E
2023 2022
—E=HF _ECF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TAT
Contract assets arising from: REUTEBZENEE .
— Films and television programs —BEKRERMBEET
released and film production MR R E R B EARTS
services provided 101,380 92,645
Impairment BE (90,217) (89,510)
Net carrying amount BREFE 11,163 3,135

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK
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in e M HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

18. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 18. BEE =

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned
from films and television programs and film production
services. For films and television programs released, the
receipt of revenue is conditional on the confirmation from
film distributor or television producer taking into account
gross receipt from various income sources less distribution
and other costs. For film production services, the receipt
of revenue is conditional on the completion of performance
obligations specified in contracts. Upon release of films
or television programs and receipt of statement of net
receipt, the amounts recognised in contract assets from
films and television programs are reclassified to trade
receivables. Upon completion of film production services
and acceptance by the film producer, the amounts
recognised in contract assets from film production services
are reclassified to trade receivables.

As at 31 December 2023, HK$90,217,000 (2022:
HK$89,510,000) was recognised as an allowance
for expected credit losses on contract assets. The
Group’s trading terms and credit policy with customers
are disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement of contract
assets as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

BREEVNIIBEZRBEROBEUAARETH
ERFB 2 WD ETHEDB - HNEETHER
REMRME  WARRFIBERLETHKRER
RRAEEZEBEWRARRHERA B EET
R EAM B A R Z SR E © ¥ 1B & RFMR
B WARRREZES TR ENREENED
EF-REFABHEMHECEETEKREF
WABEXR REXRBRHEGNEERE
BZEHRERMDEREZBBRE-NEF
REBRFBECTHLCEBERZRA AZME
BASBERERFGNEEZSREND
@%T%%Wmﬁo

RIE_=ZF+_BA=+—HBEIENEE
FEEAE ER5 18 #54590,217,00058 T (ZE -
£ 189,510,000/ 7T) - AEFHRELNES
BRREEBRFEENR NGRS B®RENE
160

R|REARZ GHEE WD S E B TR H R [
mrE:

2023 2022
—E-=F B2
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHERT FET
Within one year —FRN 11,163 3,135
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

18. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

The movements in loss allowance for impairment of
contract assets are as follows:

ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

. BHNEE #

BNEERENBEEREESINT !

2023 2022

—E-= —E
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE&T FAET
At 1 January »—A—H 89,510 76,248
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEEFEE (Mk6) 2,337 16,848
Exchange realignments BE 2 FH R (1,630) (3,586)
At 31 December R+-_B=+—H 90,217 89,510

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using the probability of default approach to measure
expected credit losses. The provision rates for the
measurement of the expected credit losses on the contract
assets are referenced to the credit ratings of comparable
companies with published credit ratings and the forward-
looking factors to reflect the effect of the external
economic environment. The provision rates for contract
assets are based on the geographical region and customer
type of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s contract assets using the
probability of default approach:

REEKREEHEGETRED N FBE
MK ESHERBEEBER BRFEEGH
EERMEEERNBRERL2EEAMIE
TR R B LE B AR 215 BT AR MU K R BR
SNEEBIRIER ENABEERREE - 54
EEMBREXDREEAEFELMUBEELANS
EERIMPIMBERE LT FELEE &
SAERMAARMELER ERFHEER
RESERTENERBESE BRIk
RARFAEEIRERANGER D FEER

TREIERAENMXEZDNNEREER
BMNEEZEERRZER !

2023 2022
Expected credit loss rate JEHAE EEEX 89% 97%
Gross amount (HK$’000) wmE FE7T 101,380 92,645
Expected credit losses (HK$ 000) TERRfEEEE (T8 90,217 89,510

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK
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PROGRAMS AND PROGRAM

RIGHTS

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in e M HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

19. INVESTMENT IN FILMS, TELEVISION 19. B8 - BiREiH R BRRIEIR S

Movements in investment in films, television programs and BEX BRMNEKHBEREREZEFNT :

program rights are as follows:

Theatrical Television
films programs Total
TRER EHREE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHET F#T
Cost: |57
At 1 January 2023 RIZZ=F—F—H 615,421 - 615,421
Exchange realignments ERAE (149) - (149)
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=f+"A=+—H 615,272 - 615,272
Accumulated amortisation and ReHEHRRE -
impairment:
At 1 January 2023 RZZ2-=5—F—H 537,749 - 537,749
Amortisation provided during the year FREHRE 2 #H (i36)
(note 6) 65,234 - 65,234
Impairment loss provided for the year FRFHRZRERE
(note 6) (Htzt6) 896 - 896
Exchange realignments EREE (322) - (322)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F+"B=+—H 603,557 - 603,557
Net carrying amount IREEE
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=F+"A=+—H 11,715 - 11,715
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ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

19. INVESTMENT IN FILMS, TELEVISION 19. E5; BRI R B RERE
PROGRAMS AND PROGRAM (4
RIGHTS (continueq)
Movements in investment in films, television programs and B BERMENHEREREZEHUOT -
program rights are as follows: (continued) (#)
Theatrical Television
films programs Total
FREY EREE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
Cost: |57
At 1 January 2022 R_E-_F—H—H 614,507 87,981 702,488
Written off b6z - (87,981) (87,981)
Exchange realignments B iR 914 - 914
At 31 December 2022 RZZ2ZZHF+°A=+—H 615,421 - 615,421
Accumulated amortisation and R RRE -

impairment:

At 1 January 2022 WZE2__F—H—H 469,270 87,981 557,251
Amortisation provided during the year FREHEZ i (HE6)

(note 6) 56,219 - 56,219
Impairment loss provided for the year FRFHEZ BERHIE (MisE6)

(note 6) 11,738 . 11,738
Written off 5 - (87,981) (87,981)
Exchange realignments fE R i EE 522 - 522
At 31 December 2022 RZE_ZH#+°"A=+—H 537,749 - 537,749
Net carrying amount IREEE
At 31 December 2022 RZE_”_H#+”"A=+—H 77,672 - 77,672
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PROGRAMS AND PROGRAM (#)
RIGHTS (continueq)
The status of the investment in films, television programs B

and program rights is as follows:

19. INVESTMENT IN FILMS, TELEVISION 19. &%

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

in e M HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

EHAB KRB RERE

BRI E ME B RERBGRAENT -

2023 2022
—E-= - fF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
i FExT FET
Non-current JETRED
Theatrical film TIRER
Released, net of accumulated BE17 {0 R st
amortisation (@ 11,715 11,718
Current TREh
Theatrical films ERER
Released, net of accumulated BT IR B st
amortisation and impairment KRB - 65,954
Total Ty 11,715 77,672
Note: Mzt
(@)  The non-current investment in a film is not classified as () BENIERAIRETESEARIEE AE

current asset because the full recoupment of this asset is

estimated to be taken place beyond the Group’s normal

operating cycle.

The Group reviews its investment in films, television
programs and program rights regularly to assess if there
is any indicator of impairment and the related recoverable
amount with reference to the marketability of each film and
television program, and current market conditions. The

recoverable amount of the investment in films, television
programs and program rights was determined on a

title-by-title basis.
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INVESTMENT IN FILMS, TELEVISION 19. B& BB R BRERS
PROGRAMS AND PROGRAM (#)
RIGHTS (continueq)
The recoverable amount of the above investments was PR E bR EREREETE (B
determined based on value in use calculation which RABEEENIERFER19.50% (CE - "4 :
uses the present value of the expected future cash flows 21.39%E22.15%) NITRXITETAEH KK
arising from the pre-determined share of proceeds of the BERERHNSHEXMERBZTALE
film which was derived from discounting the projected EMEEZERARKIFERERME) MET &
future cash flows using the discount rates of 19.50% E_E_—F+"A=+—HLEEE -#HR®
(2022: 21.39% to 22.15%) based on the different FREXEDBEBRWIEE R EFERS  EIE
status of the films. During the year ended 31 December FLUEHS 18 20 FE BB R (E 1 8 896,000 7T (ZF
2023, impairment provision of HK$896,000 (2022: — T # 111,738,000 7T) ©
HK$11,738,000) was recognised in profit or loss for
theatrical films due to the recoverability of which through
the recoupment corridor is doubtful.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. RERFEE(EHEH
2023 2022
—E=HE S
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TAT
Cash and bank balances IR& R IRITHEER
— Denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”) —UAREESHE 97 -
— Denominated in Canadian dollar (‘CA$")— LNt sHE 69 1,398
— Denominated in Hong Kong dollar — DA TTEHE
(“HKS”) 8,059 115
- Denominated in United States dollar ~ —I{ZETsHE
(“US$”) 43,778 77,907
Cash and cash equivalents BERREEFEER 52,003 79,420
ENXCRHEEBMBRAT —ZS=FEFR
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21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

21. Hth Bt RIER Bt & A

2023 2022

—£-= T F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FATT

Advances due to third parties BB = AER 60,696 74,113
VAT payable and tax penalties FEATIBER R R FE ST 36,288 32,397
Amount due to a director (note 30) B —SEEFIA (F:E30) 104 =
Accrued expenses FEsth X 7,168 13,550
Total #Est 104,256 120,060

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors
identified other payables of HK$2,527,000 are long
aged and assessed that these liabilities are extinguished.
Consequently, there was a write back of these other
payables to other income.

All of the other payables and accruals are expected to be
settled or recognised as income within one year or are
repayable on demand.

BE_ZT_=—HF+-RA=+—HLFE &
A H2,527,0008 T 2 H M & -ROIEIRE
RRILERAZEFERE K HIL > &
FHMEARBLBEHMUA -

FREEMENREBERESERRASN —F
NGB ER DA NI EREE -

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22 849&aE
2023 2022
—E-=F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FAET
Short-term advances received from WEZ & P ISR -
customers:

— Deferred income —IEIE WA - 27,018

— Sale of film investments and rendering —HEBR R E K2t
of related services HERARR TS 36,581 37,481
Total 4Est 36,581 64,499

HK$27,018,000 (2022: HK$48,510,000) were recognised
as revenue during the year ended 31 December 2023,
which was included in contract liabilities at the beginning of
the year.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

23. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

AND FILM INVESTMENT LOANS

The effective interest rates and maturities of the borrowings
and film investment loans are as follows:

23.

ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_F=+—H
AEEERERKREER

BENBEXKEEMNERMERIPER

mE:

2023 2022
—EZ= “RCCE
Effective Effective
interest rate Maturity HK$'000 interest rate Maturity HK$'000
GES L FEx  EEAE 38 FH%
Current I
Borrowings - unsecured (notes a, ¢) 3%-8% 2022-2024 235,728 3%-8% 2022-2023 222,182
BE-HiEH (Fizta c) —E-C ZBICE
EZSCME EIZCCHE
Film investment loans (notes b, ¢) 3%-8% 2019-2023 205,968 6%-8% 2019-2023 246,927
BEVREER (RN —E-hE ZZ-NE
FIECZ S
Total st 441,696 469,109

The carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings and
film investment loans are denominated in the following

SARBEREXREEMNIREASEEUTY
EfstE

currencies:
2023 2022
—T-= B F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#A T FAET
HK$ BIT 70,099 71,781
Uss$ E7T 371,597 397,328
Total Fy 441,696 469,109
Analysed into: DI
- Within one year or repayable on ——FRARRERER
demand 441,696 469,109
Note: MizE

(@ At 31 December 2023, interest-bearing borrowings
amounted to HK$77,538,000 (2022: HK$44,864,000)
bearing interest at a fixed rate of 8% (2022: 8%) per

annum are matured and other borrowings amounted to

HK$158,190,000 bearing interest at fixed rates ranging
from 3% to 8% per annum will be matured in 2024 (2022:
HK$177,318,000 bearing interest at fixed rates ranging
from 3% to 8% per annum will be matured in 2023).

@ WNZBE-_=F+-BA=+—H 285
77,538,000 70 (& — — 4 : 44,864,000%
7o) REEFFE8%E (T2 24F : 8%)
et EEEEEIR > Uk&EE43158,190,007%8
TTIRE EEF K3%E8% st EMHEMME iR
TECUEFHH (CE % 177,318,000
HBITIRE E EF RI%ESUF N T =3
HA) ©

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

23. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
AND FILM INVESTMENT LOANS

(continueq)

Note:

(0)

Film investment loans represented loans from film financiers
which bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 6% to 8%
(2022: 6% to 8%) per annum. The repayment dates are
subject to the release dates of fims.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group defaulted on
repayment of certain interest-bearing borrowings and
film investment loans (including those classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
derivative financial liabilities) with principal amounts of
HK$500,521,000 (2022: HK$415,043,000), and have a
further interest-bearing borrowings and film investment
loans (including those classified as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial
liabilities) with principal amounts of HK$174,623,000 (2022:
HK$253,124,000) which were repayable within one year.

The Group has been actively negotiating with all of the
lenders for renewal and extension for repayments of the
overdue borrowings to reduce the liquidity pressure of the
Group.

Film investment loans with principal amounts of
HK$205,968,000 (2022: HK$246,927,000) bear variable
interest rates depending on the royalties generated from
the films, which are derivative components and should be
separated from the film investment loans and measured at
fair value.

The summary of movements in the derivative financial
liabilities is as follows:

Derivative financial liabilities

stREERERREER @

BYEE -

) BREREEMEREBEMELHNER &
EEFFE6%NESHE (CTEZ-F 1 6%E
8%) B HMZ RN ER LREER-

(© AZEZ=F+ZA=+—8 > KEEBEXEE
BB A% £500,521,0008 7T (T - _F :
415,043,000 ) WE T EBERERE
,\Em(@%ﬁﬁj%&@qzﬁ.ﬁk?ﬁ e
REBRTESHEES) BEELEA
174,623,000 7t (ZZ Z 4 : 253,124,000
o) N EEBEREEREER (BE2EA
BATESABENSREBERTESREA
BE) BN —EREERE.

ES T

AEE— Eﬁzﬂﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂz)\ﬁi\aﬂzﬁﬁﬂ

BB SR TREELREAREEN RS
BEEESo
BB BEEHARE205,968,0008T (ZF

— T4 1 246,927, ooo%m) BEURREEESE
Hﬂ&‘%z,ﬁmu FT RO WHEATEILD K
BRBEEREERDBHIRAFEZE-

TETRaEEHBEAT

TTEEmMas

2023 2022
—EB_=F BT F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FATT
At 1 January S~)5~ EI 13,808 16,140

Changes in fair value recognised in RIEHERHN AT EES
profit or loss (note 6) D)) 23,176 (2,363)
Exchange realignments bE S0 BE B - 31
At 31 December IRTF=E=—I8 36,984 13,808
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24. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR 24. BAFESAEHENERMAE

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022
2= —EC

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#A T FATT

At 1 January W—B—H 185,250 192,023

Additions 10 34,809 -

Repayments BE (1,766) (16,446)
Changes in fair value recognised in RE@ERNAFEEES

profit or loss (note 6) (Mf5E6) (21,865) 9,410

Exchange realignments B 2 o 36 263

At 31 December W+ZA=4+—H 196,464 185,250

The amounts are received under the co-investment
arrangements without share of copyrights are designated
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group had several co-investment agreements with
investors in film production projects, which entitled
the investors to receive variable income based on the
investor’s investment amount and expected rate of return
as specified in the respective co-investment agreements.
Investors have no control nor joint control over the
investments and without sharing of copyrights.

The Group measured, at initial recognition, the cost of
these amounts received based on the cash consideration
for these investments.

All these films had been released and the carrying amount
at the end of the reporting period represented the fair value
of these financial liabilities derived based on the estimated
net future cash flows from these films attributable to the
investors. The repayment dates of these liabilities are
normally after 30 days every time the Company receives
cash receipts from distributors.

BHEREZHTEDERENSWREREE
BBAFESFABENEMER-

ME-S_=ER_S__F4+-A=4—
ALEE AEERRAERBR U RS
SEETHARARSE RESHARER
BFREREENRESBRBNERE
BAEERENE 2 G RAE SR AL
LIRS A LR R DR

FEERVNPERIFREZSFRENESA
Bt BEZEEWRIAR A

ZEEXHE LM RREARMNEREER
ZEEMEBRNATE ENREREERE
HREBTNEFRRFETREFRR/R -
ZEEENERBREEAET AT TRKE
EITENIRE IR 0%

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK
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25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. ig7s
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FA&T FAET
Authorised: ETE
20,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 20,000,000,000%
HK$0.10 each EREE010B T LB 2,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
823,564,799 (2022: 823,564,799) 823,564,799/ (& ——
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 823,564,7998%)
SREE0.10B Tz EER 82,356 82,356
A summary of the Company’s share capital is as follows: KRB RGABERA T -
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
BEITRAEE B&zs
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R _ZE__"F#—H—H~
1 January 2023 and 31 December —E-"HF+"A=+—H~
2023 2T -F—HFB—HK
TEC=F+Z“HA=+—H 823,564,799 82,356
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company on 1 June
2012, an ordinary resolution to propose a share option
scheme (the “2012 Share Option Scheme”) was passed.
The 2012 Share Option Scheme was thus approved
and adopted at the general meeting and subsequent
approval was granted by the Stock Exchange. The
2012 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for 10
years commencing from the adoption date (i.e., 1 June
2012). The number of shares, which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted under the
2012 Share Option Scheme and other schemes adopted
by the Group, is not permitted to exceed 30% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. The
total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme and
other schemes adopted by the Group in aggregate is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at the adoption date. The total number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any individual
is not permitted to exceed (i) 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue, and (i) HK$5,000,000 in aggregate
value based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of each grant, in any 12-month period unless such grant
is approved by independent shareholders at a general
meeting.

A consideration of HK$1 is payable by the grantee on
the acceptance of options granted. An option may be
exercised from the date of acceptance of the offer of such
option to the earlier of the date on which such option
lapses and 10 years from the offer date of that option.
The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of the
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on
the date of the grant of the options, and the average of
the closing prices of the shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the grant of the options.

ir e M B HRRMEE
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26. R tE T8

EERRABIRZE—Z"FA—HETZKRE
BEAG L BE—BEERESE ((ZT2—Z
FHERESFTE)) 2 ERABRECERBE T
——EEREASEILENREAT EEHE
Rk BB AR E — T ——
FRERETETRRMESE B2 —_FX
A—H) st tEREBRIRER - THEREZ
T FHBRES A RAERRMN M
SRE AR KRTEBREMAIEEITZ
BROEBE T EEBATAREAQATEET
BMHZ30% - 1RIE __TE—_FHERESI R
NEBRMNZ EMct B ERHZ BRES
ERRMBEEESETEBERMNEELART
BEITRHBZ10% - REMR+ @B AR A
BEMEMALTREZEREZBRBARMDAHK
REBB()AARBETIRGS 20.1% > K(i)iR
BERESREBERN BT ENEZRLEBE
5,000,000 75 FRIFBRAKHEBILRER
R AT EHAERB S ER R o

EEANEMERZBEREFSAIGRENE
ToRBRENAZEMZEFEREZNEHE
EZxERESMOERERERZBHER
+THFERQ URFERE) LHBTE-1TEE
HARBDEFEE IR AENERERD
HARMIEBZPAZWHE R EEERE
REBHMAERZARND ZFHRHEZ

SRR

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Company adopted a new share option scheme
(“New Share Option Scheme”) subsequent to the expiry
of 2012 Share Option Scheme on 31 May 2022. The New
Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for 10 years
commencing from the adoption date (i.e., 3 August 2022).
The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options is not permitted to exceed
30% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point
in time. The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the New Share Option
Scheme in aggregate is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at the adoption date.
The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted to any individual is not permitted to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue in any 12-month
period unless such grant is approved by independent
shareholders at a general meeting.

No options have been granted under the 2012 Share
Option Scheme nor the New Share Option Scheme during
the year ended 31 December 2023 and in prior years.
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26. fERg TR @

R_E__FRB=+—H ZT—_58
[E#FTEERE  NABRM—IBMERE
e (TR ESTE)) - B RESTEITN A
RHBEH B —_E2__4N\B=R) EBst+£
NBERRER - ITHERE HARTEBREM
AEETZROHE A EBRTARKEA
NEBEITRM 230% - IRIEFEE IR BT
BEERHEBREZERARMEZRSE RSB
BIRAHEBARRE B ZETIRM Z210% o A
+ZEBHE JEREMATRE ZER
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=g EHERISBIER R o

REE_Z_=F+"A=+—HLEER
BEEE BERBE_ZS—_FERESTS
B RESt BRI EERE



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

27. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Share premium

The share premium of the Group represents the amount
subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable
to wholly-foreign-owned companies, certain entitles within
the Group are required to allocate a certain portion (not
less than 10%), as determined by their boards of directors,
of their profit after tax in accordance with the general
accepted accounting principles in the PRC to the statutory
reserve fund (the “SRF”) until such reserve reaches 50% of
the registered capital.

The SRF is non-distributable other than in the event of
liquidation and, subject to certain restrictions set out
in the relevant PRC regulations, can be used to offset
accumulated losses or be capitalised as issued capital.

In accordance with the relevant regulations and the
articles of association, a subsidiary registered in the
PRC as a domestic company is required to appropriate
10% of its net profit (after offsetting accumulated losses
from prior years) to the statutory surplus reserve. After
the balance of such reserve reaches 50% of the entity’s
capital, any further appropriation is at the discretion of the
Company. The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised to
offset accumulated losses or increase capital. However,
the balance of the statutory surplus reserve must be
maintained at a minimum 25% of the capital after such
usages.
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27. (#f&

FEERFEERBEEEY HEREDS
Ry St et TER

ab B it
AEEZ RO ERIEFRIBRABHABS
S

AEEE
RETFEEAN N EBE AR IEMER
AEERTHETERARESTRAERT
QW RS E IR R 8 R BB T 8
H(RLR10%) EREMES (DEERE
%)) BEREEEEMERN50%HLE

ZERBEATADIK HHRFRBERK
RFARR P EDERFT8E T RS A R IR
REBEENBREEARBEITRER -

REBERRERREBRSZMEB > £ B
BABEAB I E QB AL H AR BI10%
(EEEBEFENRFBIRR) EEAERRK
- NZFERHRNEHREERERE THI50%
%> ARBRAPIRBEFHERE - B E
EBRGHEBANBFRHERFABERNILE A
m> REH LA RE A EBERFE BRI
BRABMERI A DR B4 BI25% o
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28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@ Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$1,802,000 (2022: nil) and HK$1,802,000 (2022:
nil) in respect of lease arrangements for office spaces
respectively.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities

2023

n‘7|-\

(a)

ARERERMNE

FEFRERH

RER AEEERMRATHEHAESZS

Zﬁﬁﬁff%éiéfé)i’zﬁﬂgiéﬁmalﬂﬁ%iJJD
DR 71,802,0008 7T (ZE - _F © )

F21,802,0008 70 (CE - "F 1 ) o

MEEBREENERES

Interest-
bearing Financial
borrowings liabilities
and film Derivative at fair value
investment financial through Lease
loans liabilities profit or loss liabilities
HAEEER BATEHA
EXREER fTESMAE BoZNIHNER HEaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FER FER FER
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—-F—H 469,109 13,808 185,250 1,840
Changes from financing MERERELD
cash flows (49,321) - 33,043 (2,074)
New leases entered WIEE - - - 1,802
Interest expenses FERY 22,033 - - 89
Fair value changes in financial AT ET ABRNEHEE
liabilities at fair value through NTEEE)
profit or loss - 23,176 (21,865) -
Exchange realignments ERREE (125) - 36 -
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=F+"A=+—H 441,696 36,984 196,464 1,657
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28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ARERERERME @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MEEXFFREENAREES
financing activities (continued) (&)
2022 B2
Interest-
bearing Financial
borrowings liabilities
and fim Derivative at fair value
investment financial through Lease
loans liabilities profit or loss liabilities
HEEER BATEA
EXREEN TEEREE BmNemas HEaRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 _E”_"&#-B—H 454,423 16,140 192,023 4,493
Changes from financing MERERELH
cash flows (10,057) - (16,446) (2,836)
Interest expenses FISEx 26,189 - = 183
Fair value changes in financial ~ BATEFABENERHEE
liabilities at fair value through NTEEE
profit or loss - (2,363) 9,410 -
Exchange realignments ERRE (1,446) 31 263 -
At 31 December 2022 KRB "F+"HA=+—H 469,109 13,808 185,250 1,840
Total cash outflows for leases (c) HERESMHLEEE
The total cash outflows for leases included in the FAGREREMERZIHEERESMEE
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: BUT -
2023 2022
2= —EC
HK$’000 HK$’000
FA&T FAEIT
Within operating activities KEEER 439 258
Within financing activities BEEKRN 2,074 2,836
Total st 2,513 3,094
ENXCRHEEBMBRAT —ZS=FEFR
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29. COMMITMENTS

(@@ The Group had the following contractual
commitments at the end of the reporting period:

29, i

(@) ME|EHR ZEEBUTEARE !

2023 2022

—E-=F TECCHF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHERT FET

Film investments BEKE 151,888 151,925

(b) The Group has no lease contract that has not yet
commenced as at 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Other than the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, the Group
did not have any material transactions with related
parties during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022. QOutstanding balances with related parties
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are disclosed
below.

(b) oOutstanding balances with related parties:

(i)  Amount due from a director

) RZZBE=ZF+"FB=+—H ' &&H
TEEARBENEESN CEZZF:

#E) o

30. FABt B35

() RBE—_Z_=EK-_ZT__#+_H
—t+—HIEFE BRZEEEMBERE
HME Oz X 55  REBE I E
FEREEABM A EARG - RIE =
ERZE__F+"B=+—HEBH
FZREBEERFEEN T

(o) e2mAm A = R MEBER
() ER—ZEFLE

2023 2022
2= =i
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Amount due from a director — FEWN — 2B EZRIB— B HFLE
Mr. Luo Lei (note 17) (MFE17) = 5,067

The amount due from a director is non-
trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free
and recoverable on demand. The maximum
balance outstanding during the year ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 is HK$5,067,000.
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ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. FAEk A3 S

(continueq)
(b) outstanding balances with related parties: (b) ERAm S 2 R EBER (B
(continued)
(i) Amount due to a director (i) Eff—HBZEFZE
2023 2022
—E-=F -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEx FAETT
Amount due to a director -  Ef—ZEERIE-EBFLE
Mr. Luo Lei (note 21) (MFzE21) 104 -
The amount due to a director is non-trade B —2EEHNEAEEZEE
nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable IR - RENREERER
on demand.
(i) Amount due to a shareholder (i) FEff—H R EHE
2023 2022
—E-=F -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEx FAET
Amount due to a shareholder FE 1 —%4 f& 88 18 1,099 1,132
The amount due to a shareholder is non-trade P —2RERIEAIEEZEE
in nature, unsecured, interest-free and has no IR R ERBEEEERHR-

fixed terms of repayment.
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e

AR R MIEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b)

(©)

Qutstanding balances with related parties:
(continueq)

30. At B3RS @

(o) eamAmAs 2 REBER &

(iv) Film investment loan (iv) BEXREE

2023 2022

—E=F _ECF

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FET
A shareholder — Jiangyin — SRR —TIREIRIAIZE
Binjiang Technology SEBRAE (DIREI)

Venture Investment Co.,
Ltd. (“Jiangyin Binjiang”) 32,814 36,192

The film investment loan is trade in nature,
unsecured and bears interest at a fixed rate
of 6% (2022: 6%) per annum and is overdue
as at 31 December 2023. As at the date
of this report, the Group is in the process
of renegotiating the terms of the loan with
Jiangyin Binjiang, which includes, among
others, to extend the maturity dates. The
interest and late payment penalties had been
accrued according to the provision of the
current loan agreement.

Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group

The remuneration of the key management of the
Group during the year was as follows:

B REETAEZME - BEF
EBREEENR% (B _F .
6%) stEEAR_E_=%+_AH1
—t+t—HE&AH RNEKRSHE-
SEEFEIRBEIENMEE
TER - L (HhE#E) EREEH
He B EREMEEIRIBEIRA
BERBEBIECETHR

c) =EBMETEZEEASHM

FRNEERTSEEASHMUOT :

2023 2022

HK$'000  HK$'000

T#HT TAT

Short term employee benefits ZHAEB BT 4,689 5,429

Pension scheme contributions BRIRETBIHERR 15 18
Total compensation paid to key

management personnel BENTEEEASFHMIEEE 4,704 5,447

The remuneration of directors and other members
of key management is determined by the Board
of Directors having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

1. RENBSNEMTIAR

RBERR TR ITARZBELBNREET

instruments as the end of the reporting period are as TS 3
follows:
2023 —E-=
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
g A 5t &
ZERMEE
Financial assets EREE HK$’000
FHET
Trade receivables B 5 WIS 12,006
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5t A FE{1 7018 « E fth FE UL B K
other receivables and other assets HUWEENEREE 105,767
Contract assets HBHEE 11,163
Cash and cash equivalents HeERBSEEEB 52,003
Total 4Bt 180,939
Financial liabilities
designated as
fair value Financial
through profit liabilities at
or loss at amortised
initial recognition cost Total
AT
EE#RATE
AT BT
MEmMERE HEZEMAR @t
Financial liabilities ERaf HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Financial liabilities included in other SAAEMENREREFERN
payables and accruals THER - 60,800 60,300
Interest-bearing borrowings and fim HERENERREERN
investment loans - 441,696 441,696
Derivative financial liabilities ThEEmas 36,984 - 36,984
Financial liabilities at fair value through AT EFTABRZNEHAR
profit or loss 196,464 - 196,464
Amount due to a shareholder FEf—2 R R FIE - 1,099 1,099
Lease liabilities HEER - 1,657 1,657
Total 4Bt 233,448 505,252 738,700
EANCREEERIRAT —T=FFH
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 31. HEHATNEMTAH @
CATEGORY (continueq)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RHBREHEF EMTIASESENEREY
instruments as the end of the reporting period are as T #)

follows: (continued)

2022 B
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
AR AT &
ZEMEE
Financial assets THEE HK$’000
FHET
Trade receivables B 5 ERIE 4,054
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5t A F8{J 7018 « E fh FE UL 70 I8 K
other receivables and other assets HtEENEREE 110,527
Contract assets BHEE 3,135
Cash and cash equivalents BERREEFEER 79,420
Total st 197,136
Financial liabilities
designated as Financial
fair value through liabilities at
profit or loss at amortised
initial recognition cost Total
Rt K
IBERAFE
StABH R AR A
NEmaE HEzcrad “mEt
Financial liabilities B =k HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
& FAETT FET
Financial liabilities included in other st AEMEMRIBREHERK
payables and accruals By = 74,113 74,113
Interest-bearing borrowings and STEBERERREER
film investment loans - 469,109 469,109
Derivative financial liabilities mEEREs 13,808 - 13,808
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEFABENEHEE
through profit or loss 185,250 - 185,250
Amount due to a shareholder It —REIA - 1,132 1,132
Lease liabilities HEaRE - 1,840 1,840
Total “ast 199,058 546,194 745,252
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32. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, contract assets, trade receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, interest-bearing borrowings and
film investment loans, amount due to a shareholder and
lease liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the
chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair value:

The fair value of the derivative financial liabilities and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
is assessed by an independent valuer based on the
discounted cash flows model under income-based
approach.

ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

32. %Eﬂlﬁﬂ’\]’ﬁiﬁﬁ&ﬁzﬁﬁl@

EEECTLEEREEEIEERE GHE
EBHBWGRE st AR RIE Y H W
REREMEENSREE st AHMEN
HERESERANERER FEEERE
FREER - BN —2RENEREBEER
ZAFEEEKREERSE TEHANZEFET
=8.3) R INE G

FERRMBEERENMBEREEHES
MIARAFEABNERERERF MHEE
EROMHEREREZEZETER NER
SR MBHMAOMERTABENES
BR TEEGEMANEIERARE GE
RV FEREERTME - HEBRERERHA
EREZEESFETMRH  UFPHAR
FEMBHRR

TREBEZATERZIARBERE S ER
RGP OFRBRBFEMLE) PEIRBR TR
IR At AT ERRBUTHERRR !

METMBEREATEFABENEHE
BHAFEDHBILFEERERAZTH
MIRREREBREETE

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

32. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE R.TMIANLAFERATFEE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL )
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Below is the summary of the valuation techniques used TRBEN ZZE=_FEZZTE_"_F+AH
and significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of —t+—HEMITEMGHEMER 2 MERINTR
financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity BAAERBASEUREEHRE DT

analysis as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Significant
Valuation unobservable Sensitivity of fair value
techniques input Range to the input
BEXFTHE
hER BAYE #E AT EHEA RSN REE
Derivative financial liabilities Income-based Estimated 2023: HK$18,328,000 to 5% (2022: 5%) increase/
approach  revenue from HK$304,063,000 decrease in estimated revenue
films (2022: HK$18,228,000 to would result in increase/decrease
HK$317,473,000) in fair value by HK$1,738,000/
HK$1,655,000 (2022:
HK$1,469,000/HK$1,399,000)
TEemaR WAL RERRZ ZZTT =1 118,328,000 E Bt ERIE M,/ 5%
Bt 304,063,000 (CEZZF:5%) FERATE
(CEZ 4 18,228,000 7T 110,/ 01,738,000 7T,/
317,473,000 7T) 1,655,000 7T
(ZEZZF 11,469,000 7T
/1,399,000 77)
Financial liabilities at fair value  Income-based Estimated 2023:HK$63,932,000 to 5% (2022: 5%) increase/
through profit or loss approach  revenue from HK$304,063,000 decrease in estimated revenue
films (2022: HK$61,735,000 to would result in increase/decrease
HK$317,473,000) in fair value by HK$9,307,000/
HK$8,864,000 (2022:
HK$9,654,000/HK$9,194,000)
BATESIABENERAR WAE REBRRZ “& = 163,932,0008TE st IE M,/ 5%
Bl 304,063,000 (CEZZF:5%) FERATE
(CEZ % 61,735,000 7T 110,/ #09,307,0008 7T,/
317,473,000 7T) 8,864,00078 7
(ZEZZF 19,654,000 7T
/9,194,000 77)
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

32. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL R
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

DT ERER

hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Liabilities measured at fair value: BATEFEZEE:

At 31 December 2023

WZEZ-=%+=-HA=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERUTREMEZATE"E

2. EMTANATFERATFERE

TRIITAERERTIEZ ATEFEER:

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs Total

RER EXTHRE EXTUHRE
hiaRE BARE BARE it

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(E—4%) (B8 (B=%)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TER FET
Derivative financial liabilities fTE4aaE - - 36,984 36,984

Financial liabilities at fair value through WA EHABENLEHAE

profit or loss - - 196,464 196,464
Total it - - 233,448 233,448
EXNEREEBMBERAT —E_=FFR
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

32. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: (continued)

At 31 December 2022

2. EMTAENATFERATFERE

4R )

ANFEBL @)

TRITETEBERMIBEZAFESERE
(B

R_BE__#+_-_A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERAUTREMFZ ATERHE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
REE  EAUERE EALUEZR ‘
miHRE WA AR ezt
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(E—H) EZH) (E=H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT FAT TAT
Derivative financial liabilities mEEmAas - - 13,808 13,808
Financial liabilities at fair value /A Est ABEH
through profit or loss TRIAaE - - 185,250 185,250
Total “Est - - 199,058 199,058

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for financial liabilities (2022:
nil).

The information about the movements in fair value
measurements within level 3 during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 are disclosed in notes 23 and
24 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
amount due to a shareholder, interest-bearing borrowings
and film investment loans, derivative financial liabilities,
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables and contract
assets, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board of Directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group are primarily exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate interest-bearing borrowings and
film investment loans (note 23) and lease liabilities (note
14) and cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances (note 20). The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy. The management
monitors interest rate risk exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arises. The Group considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is
insignificant because the current market interest rates are
relative stable.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units
in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.
None (2022: None) of the Group’s sales were denominated
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the
operating units making the sale.

ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

33. MEEMRERBEREE

FEENTEMBIRGERN —BRENR
B st EREERBRREEN - TEEHE
B RATESABRGZNEHERGUKRES
RETHFEEB - ZFETMIANTEZEN
DRAEENKEEEES AEEERSR
SHMETRMEERER NEHERBEHE
ENEZREREBEREGNEE-

REFAEEERTIENTIZARA/FMEXR
B NERBEERRRABESRER -E
FEERTYREEESERRBHEE AR
EURBEAS T3 e

) 2R & B

AEEFEZHBHRE TN XRFSEERER
BREEM (M5F23) REE&E (HsE14) 48
BB A FEMRE R T BIRITAR (W
20) HRANREREN XER - AEE BRI
BAEENEER EEEREMN RO
THRRERBEREBHPERNKREAR &
EERD BRBRHBMNEEHEBE TR
IRITEREENREAENXRABRILEAEKX -

I L B

AEREHRSEERAR ZERARTDES
BN BN ZINEEBMUIIN BlsETT
BEMEE AEFATE(CZ - _F &)
ERLETHE ZKEBUIEE K UING
Bt E o

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change
in the US$ exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s loss before tax (arising from US$
denominated financial instruments).

33. HEAERERBAEREE @

G & LR (=)

TREINEFMEHMEHERTIEZBR
T rEEGRAEGR CRENUETHENS
TR HRBSRRETERZ GBI EZ
BZHRE -

2023 —E-=
If the HK$ weakens against the US$ (BT RETEE
If the HK$ strengthens against the US$ {78 T R 3= T HHE

2022 —_=F_
If the HK$ weakens against the US$ (8Bt RETRE
If the HK$ strengthens against the US$ {#7B 7t R ETHE

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis.
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. MFERAKEEREREER @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
Credit risk (continued) EERRE @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging = A [ % i L] R B 2K P 15 e B2
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TRBBRNT_B=+—HHNEEE=ZRE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, RAEEFEERENRAGERRHKO > E
which is mainly based on past due information unless other EERBFAAEN GRIFEEMESIHNE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and MM AHRLE NI EENER) URFERMEDN
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The EEDBEIG -FI2NEsRAzSeRE
amounts presented are gross amounts for financial assets. ER4RE-
At 31 December 2023 R-_E-_=%+"H=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 B 1
f=885E 2HEREERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—REE ERE BEMEER {EH & Fh
HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTERT FERT FET FET
Contract assets* BNEE - - - 101,380 101,380
Trade receivables* B R EE - - - 111,500 111,500
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEE&EEER
- Not yet past due — I ARBER 52,003 - - - 52,003
Financial assets included SATBARIE At
in prepayments, other BHERAEMEEN
receivables and other assets ~ &RIEE
- Normal** — " 105,767 - - - 105,767
Total fmst 157,770 - - 212,880 370,650

EXEREEBMBRAT —B_=FFKR 177
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. MEEAMEEBERBE @

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk (continued) EERRE @

Maximum exposure and year-end staging RABEMORFRTERER ()

(continueq)

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREBRINRTZE=1+T—HHNEEEERKRE

exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, RAEBEERENRAGEERRKO > E

which is mainly based on past due information unless other EEREFAAEN GRIEFBEEMESEFIHLE

information is available without undue cost or effort, and MR AHRE NI EESNER) URFERMEDN
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The FEEE DB 2N ERAZSEETME
amounts presented are gross amounts for financial assets. ERNEE (&

(continued)

At 31 December 2022 R_E__F+"A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A 88
FEER 2BBREEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—PEER PR = PEES B1EA % Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FAT FAT FAET

Contract assets* BHEE - - - 92,645 92,645

Trade receivables B 5 IR - - - 105,291 105,291

Cash and cash equivalents ReRkFEEEER

- Not yet past due — i ARAH 79,420 - - - 79,420

Financial assets included STAFENFIB HAE

in prepayments, other IR HMEER
receivables and other assets ~ &RIBE

- Normal™ —EE™ 110,593 - - - 110,593

Total st 190,013 - - 197,936 387,949

< For trade receivables and contract assets at which the * HRAEEMRBEREBBEAEZNE S EK
Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, MERGHNEEMS BN EEERRENR
information based on the provision matrix and probability KEMER DN EMFFRERME16K18
of default approach is disclosed in notes 16 and 18 to the R EE o
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

*  The credit quality of the financial assets included in R i ABNMNRIE - EMtMERZEREMEE
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is HNeMmEENRARERESNERZSES
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due MEEBVSIEIREECERREZSIE NN
and there is no information indicating that the financial B AZETHMEENEEEZRRAAE
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial Bl
recognition.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had concentration
of credit risk as most of the Group’s trade receivables and
contract assets were due from a few customers, who are
mainly film distributors. 38% (2022: 42%) and 87% (2022:
92%) of the total balance of trade receivables and contract
assets were due from the Group’s largest customer and
the five largest customers, respectively.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains

sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents or have available funding through interest-
bearing borrowings to meet its commitments over the
foreseeable future in accordance with its strategic plan.

ir e M B HRRMEE
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33. MEAEEERBAEREE @

EEEME ®

N TECZHF+A=+—H BERETEH
kﬁﬁﬁ ZRBRBEREGHNEERBETES
EE%? TENLVEER BEEBEFEEE
%EP’I‘%‘ZR FERBZRBRBREREXN
%QE%E%E?'ZPQB‘JBS% (T2 TH D 42%)
K87% (ZZ "4 1 92%) HEWBAREH
RAERRAERER -

MENE = A

FEEBZHRATHEREN RBRRSHE
TER O BEREFAENRSEHHELURERE
gﬁ&%xﬁﬁﬂﬁ/}ll@]ﬁ% X°

FEBZHRRBBAREBE REEHHN
REkBRcFEREERRBERENES LR
BHEHRBFE A RREARKEITHAR
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continueq)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

33. HEAERERBAEREE @

RBEEEME @

RFEEHRERERNR ZAEERREHRZ
TREeEfIPBEROT

2023

—_— ——

On demand
or less than 1to5
1 year years Total
BEKXN
DR—F —ERf b
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT FHT
Other payables HtEI=IE 60,800 - 60,800
Interest-bearing borrowings and fim st BEEREFHREER
investment loans 444,325 - 444,325
Derivative financial liabilities ThEEmar 37,421 = 37,421
Financial liabilities at fair value through ¥ AFEF ABZHNEMEE
profit or loss 197,555 - 197,555
Amount due to a shareholder fEeff—2REIE 1,099 - 1,099
Lease liabilities HEaR 1,269 462 1,731
Total st 742,469 462 742,931
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continuea)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows: (continued)

ir e M B HRRMEE
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33. MEAEEERBAEREE @

REBEEEME @

RIFEEHRERERNR ZAEERREHRZ
TREEIHBEROT (&

2022
“ETTF
On demand
or less than 1t05
1 year years Total
DR—F —EhfF ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tax TEn S
Other payables HME[ I8 74,113 - 74113
Interest-bearing borrowings and fim B EERBFBREEN
investment loans 472,704 - 472,704
Derivative financial liabilities TEEmar 13,808 - 13,808
Financial liabilities at fair value through ¥ AFEF ABZHNEMER
profit or loss 190,156 = 190,156
Amount due to a shareholder E—2RRME 1,132 S 1,132
Lease liabilities HEER 1,761 165 1,926
Total st 753,674 165 753,839

Further information regarding the Group’s liquidity risk and
the actions taken and planned by the Directors is set out in
note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics or the underlying
assets. The Group made no change to its capital structure
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

ERAERRBHES AR KRESFTREUE
BNTHNE— P ENFEN G HREM
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. HEEAREEREREE @

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continuead)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt.
Net debt includes interest-bearing borrowings and film
investment loans, derivative financial liabilities, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, amount due
to a shareholder less cash and cash equivalents. Capital

EXEE @

AEERBEXABBLEX BIMERPHEBRURL
ABREANEE PR BEREL BB FEE
B REEREEREER - TEERER
BAFTEFABRaNEHER BN —2K
EREAREARREEERE -BEXACES
AREEEANEBEED REREARNES

includes equity attributable to owners of the parent. The BELEERNT

gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were

as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —_=E_—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#A T FAET
Interest-bearing borrowings and FEEERBEREEN
film investment loans 441,696 469,109
Derivative financial liabilities mETHMas 36,984 13,808
Financial liabilities at fair value BATEFSAEENEMEE
through profit or loss 196,464 185,250
Amount due to a shareholder ERT—2 AR ERIE 1,099 1,132
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERIREEEIER (52,003) (79,420)
Net debt B3 38 624,240 589,879
Equity attributable to owners of the BABHB AELER
parent (377,744) (330,184)
Capital and net debt BAKRER P 246,496 259,695
Gearing ratio BERBEL=E 253% 227%

Further information regarding the Group’s net liabilities and
the actions taken and planned by the Directors is set out in
note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 34. ZATIMFFIR AR

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

REREAR BRERBDZHBRREZE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2023 2022
—T-= B
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BERERE 3 =
Right-of-use assets EREEE 897 250
Prepayments, other receivables FEfIRIE s W IE K A
and other assets BHE 29,135 29,142
Investment in subsidiaries RRBRABEZKRE 10 -
Total non-current assets ERBEEHE 30,045 29,392
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Prepayments, other receivables FA{RIE ~ B R IE R HAth
and other assets BE 3,001 540
Cash and cash equivalents BeRIASEEER 46 113
Total current assets REEEME 3,047 653
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENE R
Other payables and accruals HthE B R ETE A 23,450 6,089
Contract liabilities HHE8E 17,291 18,186
Interest-bearing borrowings and film AEEERETREEN
investment loans 31,300 43,246
Amounts due to subsidiaries N EYNGIE | 44,525 3,809
Lease liabilities HEAaR 546 244
Total current liabilities B BEELE 117,112 71,574
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mHAERE (114,065) (70,921)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS WEERTHAMG
CURRENT LIABILITIES (84,020) (41,529)
EXNCIRHEBBRAT —S=FFH
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

34. XATIMRBRAR =

(continueq)
2023 2022
—E-=HF B F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY JERBAaG
Lease liabilities HEa®E 448 =
Net liabilities B8RP E (84,468) (41,529
EQUITY %
Share capital [N 82,356 82,356
Reserves (note) fEHE (BPED) (166,824) (123,885)
Total deficit ek (84,468) (41,529)

Tang Liang
g
Co-chairman

BEERE
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Director
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 34. ERFMBRRR @
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(continueq)
Note: BsE -
A summary of the Company’s reserve is as follows: NABIEEB RS -
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B iEE BB E REtEE it
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2022 M-E-—%—A—H 556,778 1,564 (606,678) (48,336)
Total comprehensive loss FRNEEBEEE
for the year - - (75,549) (75,549)
At 31 December 2022 and - S—
1 January 2023 +ZBA=+—H
RZE”=
—B—A 556,778 1,564 (682,227) (123,885)
Total comprehensive loss FRNEEBEEE
for the year - - (42,939) (42,939)
At 31 December 2023 MZBZ=F
+=BA=+-A 556,778 1,564 (725,166) (166,824)

EXANCRAEERRAT —F_=FFK
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31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_B=+—H

35. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

(@)

On 8 January 2024, the Company completed the
placement of 162,000,000 shares with an aggregate
nominal value of HK$16,200,000 and raised net
proceeds of approximately HK$26,400,000.

On 4 January 2024, the Company entered into a
strategic cooperation framework agreement with
Greenland Digital Technology Co., Ltd. Pursuant
to which the Company is entitled to improve the
development on metaverse business, advance its
digital product platform construction and expand
crossborder e-commence operations.

36. LITIGATION AND CLAIMS

(@)

On 22 September 2022, a company incorporated
in the PRC has filed a writ of summons for a legal
proceedings against a subsidiary of the Group (the
“Subsidiary”) in relation to, inter alia, a claim for a
repayment of investment principal of US$804,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$6,279,000) and the
corresponding interests in respect of a co-investment
agreement for a movie titled “Midway” (the “Co-
Investment Agreement”).

On 10 January 2024, the Subsidiary received
a final court judgement mandating payment of
investment principal of US$804,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,279,000), along with corresponding interests
of US$239,000 (equivalent to HK$1,867,000).
Management considered that the relevant balances
(including the corresponding interests thereof)
recognised by the Group under the Co-Investment
Agreement as at 31 December 2023 is sufficient
and therefore the subsequent final court judgement
will not have a material impact to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023

35. REHAREH
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36. LITIGATION AND CLAIMS (continued)

(b)

On 3 March 2023, a company incorporated in the
PRC has filed a Notice of Arbitration with Hong
Kong International Arbitration Centre to commence
an arbitral proceedings against the Subsidiary and
the Company in relation to, inter alia, a claim for a
repayment of investment principal of US$3,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$23,495,000)
in respect of an alleged investment agreement
(the “Investment Agreement”) for a movie titled
“Malignant”. The Tribunal has not been heard at the
date of these consolidated financial statements.
Management considered that the Group’s exposures
from the claim is insignificant considering a separate
agreement entered into between the Group, the
claimant and an independent third party on 23 May
2019 to transfer this investment to the independent
third party.

37. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with current year’s presentation.

ir e M B HRRMEE

31 December 2023 —_E_=F+_H=+—H

i E)
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Financial Summary

FEHRR

RESULTS £
For the year ended 31 December
HE+-B=+—HLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Z2-NF IBI%F T IZTF IZEI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FTET FET FTET FTET FERT
(Restated)
((E75)
Revenue (including continuing and Wi (BREFER
discontinued operations) 1R 327,065 47,761 199,403 60,247 80,336
Profit/(loss) before tax BriATRF, (F518) 148,097 (150,623) (414,864) (131,739) (49,784)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fri3it (B /%R (50,603) (11,785) 15,550 (3,458) 3,910
Profit/(loss) for the year FERH,/ (518 97,494 (162,408) (399,314) (135,197) (45,874)
- Attributable to owners of the parent  —RABHEAR AL 98,181 (162,275) (399,264) (135,867) (45,720
- Attributable to non-controlling interests —JEIZ AR % FE 1L (687) (133) (50) 670 (154)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NE C"E_BF T _"T_C —Z-=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET FTET F#ERT
(Restated)
(& E75))
Total assets nEE 1,174,583 1,018,457 731,625 566,722 476,533
Total liabilities F=l (865,031) (841,882) (920,660) (897,259) (854,783)
309,552 176,575 (189,035) (330,537) (378,250)
Equity R
- Attributable to owners of the parent  —RAB#EHE AEMG 356,296 202,548 (188,016) (330,184) (377,744)
— Attributable to non-controlling interests —JFiZ A& 25 FE 1L (46,744) (25,979) (1,019) (353) (506)
Total st 309,552 176,575 (189,035) (330,537) (378,250)
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